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69O-190.056 Application for Self-Insurers Fund.

(1) Licensing procedures pursuant to Section 120.60, F.S., and in accordance with the model rules of procedure shall apply to this application.

(2) All applications for a self-insurers fund shall be made in writing on OIR Form BSI-2.

(3) All applications shall be accompanied by:

(a) A properly completed indemnity agreement in accordance with Rule 69O-190.068, F.A.C.

(b) A properly executed Self-Insurer’s Surety Bond on OIR Form BSI-4, pursuant to Rule 69O-190.032 and subsection 69O-190.060(4), F.A.C., or proof of cash securities pursuant to Rule 69O-190.033, F.A.C., and in amounts pursuant to Rule 69O-190.060, F.A.C.

(c) Copies of acceptable excess insurance policies pursuant to Rule 69O-190.035, F.A.C., with limits and retentions pursuant to Rule 69O-190.061, F.A.C., and endorsements pursuant to Rule 69O-190.036, F.A.C.

(d) A fidelity bond or insurance policy pursuant to subsection 69O-190.064(5), F.A.C.

(e) A fidelity bond or insurance policy covering the service company pursuant to subsection 69O-190.064(7), F.A.C.

(f) A certification from a designated depository attesting to sufficient monies on hand in order for the fund to meet initial obligations pursuant to paragraph 69O-190.056(5)(c), F.A.C.

(g) Proof of servicing pursuant to Rule 69O-190.031, F.A.C.

(h) Copies of the fund by-laws or trust agreement and written policies pursuant to subsections 69O-190.064(2), (3) and (4), F.A.C.

(i) Membership applications executed on OIR Form BSI-3 or its equivalent complete with declarations and financial statements pursuant to Rule 69O-190.059, F.A.C. Funds must use the BSI-3 unless prior approval of the Office has been granted for use of an alternate form. Such alternate form must contain all information contained on the BSI-3, but may ask for additional information or use a different format. Approval will be granted if the alternate form contains all required information. OIR Form BSI-3, or its equivalent, shall be used for all new business. OIR Form BSI-3, or its equivalent, shall be used for all renewal business for twelve consecutive months. The use of this form for new and renewal business must commence within sixty (60) days of the date of this rule. A copy of this form may be obtained from the Bureau of P & L Insurer Solvency, Tallahassee, Florida.

(j) Proof that the initial membership of the fund have the combined financial conditions and combined premiums as specified in paragraph (m) of this section.

(k) The name of the attorney, certified public accountant, and actuary representing the fund.

(l) A completed Estimated Breakdown of Policy Year Expenses on OIR Form BSI-21.

(m) Each self-insurers fund shall submit a current financial statement on each member at the inception of the self-insurers fund showing the combined net worth of all members applying for coverage to be not less than $1,000,000, each member shall have a current ratio which is the median for the self-insureds standard industry code as published in the 1992 edition of the Robert Morris Associates Annual Statement Studies. An audited financial statement or a financial statement properly certified by an officer, owner or partner for all members joining the self-insurers fund after the inception date shall be submitted to the Office with the application for membership until such time as an audited financial statement is available for the self-insurers fund as a whole. In no event shall the cumulative net worth or current ratio of the combined assets and liabilities of all members be less than the minimum amounts currently required for a fund to qualify.

(n) Each applicant shall submit a feasibility study, prepared by an independent qualified actuary and an independent certified public accountant to satisfactorily address market potential, market penetration, market competition, operating expenses, gross revenues, net income total assets and liabilities, cash flow, and such other items as the division may require. The study shall be for the greater of 3 years or until the arrangement has been projected to be profitable for 12 consecutive months. The feasibility study must reflect and support all premium, reserve, and other financial requirements with which the fund must comply.

(4) Upon receipt of the application and other required materials, the Office will investigate the application and will request any additional information which is required in a letter to the applicant.

(5) The financial condition of the proposed fund shall be determined in light of the following:

(a) In considering the financial strength and liquidity of the group as evidence of ability to pay normal compensation claims promptly, the Office will take into consideration contracts or policies of aggregate excess liability insurance secured in accordance with Rule 69O-190.061, F.A.C.

(b) The trustees shall satisfy the Office that the normal premiums of the self-insurers fund will be at least $500,000 for the first and succeeding years of operation.

(c) The trustees shall submit at least ten (10) days prior to the proposed effective date, positive proof that the members have paid into a common claims fund in a designated depository, cash premiums in an amount of not less than $125,000 or twenty-five percent (25%) of the estimated annual standard premium of the members at inception, whichever amount is greater. The remainder of the deposit premiums shall be collected based on the schedule adopted by the trustees.

(6) If the initial contract for aggregate excess insurance contains a minimum loss fund or retention provision in excess of $70,000 then the trustees must submit with their initial filing, in addition to those of the members at inception, signed member agreements evidencing additional earned normal premium for the first year of operation sufficient to meet the minimum loss fund. These additional agreements may have varying effective dates.

(7) No applicant shall have an aggregate excess contract which provides for a minimum loss fund or retention greater than the product of the aggregate retention percentage and the normal premium of the members submitting signed agreements.

(8) Prior to making a final determination on the approval or denial of the application, the Office may schedule an informal conference in Tallahassee. In the event a meeting is scheduled, the board of trustees of the prospective fund, its administrator, a representative of the service company, its attorney, and its CPA shall meet with the representative of the Office to discuss any matters relevant to the qualification of the fund. A time and date that is mutually agreeable will be selected within the statutory time frame established by Chapter 120, F.S., for the approval and denial of the application.

Rulemaking Authority 440.38(2)(b), 440.591, 624.4621(3) FS. Law Implemented 440.38(1)(b), (2)(b), 624.4621 FS. History–New 10-1-82, Amended 12-25-84, Formerly 38F-5.56, Amended 6-12-91, 12-19-93, Formerly 38F-5.056, 4-190.056.

69O-190.057 Evaluation of Application for Self-Insurers Fund.

(1) The application will be evaluated and a determination will be made of:

(a) Whether the fund application, individual member applications and indemnity agreement are properly completed and that all required information is supplied.

(b) Whether the combined financial condition of the membership meets the criteria established in Rule 69O-190.056, F.A.C.

(c) Whether or not the servicing program satisfied Rule 69O-190.031, F.A.C.

(d) Whether the fidelity bonds or insurance policies for the administrator, service company, fiscal agent, and other individuals pursuant to subsection 69O-190.064(5), F.A.C., are properly executed and in amounts sufficient to protect the fund against loss.

(e) Whether a sufficient amount of premium has been deposited pursuant to subsection 69O-190.056(5), F.A.C.

(f) Whether the by-laws or trust agreement and written policies contain the items specified in subsections 69O-190.064(17), (18), and (19), F.A.C.

(g) Whether the surety bond is properly executed or the cash securities properly assigned and if they are in the proper amounts pursuant to Rules 69O-190.060, 69O-190.032 and 69O-190.033, F.A.C.

(h) Whether the excess contracts have proper endorsements and provide suitable coverage to the fund pursuant to Rules 69O-190.035 and 69O-190.036, F.A.C.

(i) Whether the excess coverages have limits and retentions pursuant to Rule 69O-190.061, F.A.C.

(j) Whether the combined annual normal premiums meet the criteria contained in subsection 69O-190.056(5), F.A.C.

(k) Whether the proforma required in paragraph 69O-190.056(3)(m), F.A.C., provides that the fund complies with all requirement of Chapter 440, F.S., and this rule for the period covered.

(2) Any deficiencies in the original filing will be noted in a letter to the applicant.

(3) The Office in evaluating the application shall review the financial condition of the fund and make the following determinations:

(a) Whether the operating budget of the fund as presented on OIR Form BSI-21 is adequate to meet the fund’s needs.

(b) Whether the operating budget as presented on OIR Form BSI-21 contains reasonable estimates of the necessary expenses of the fund.

(c) Whether the fund will have sufficient income to pay for all necessary expenses.

(d) Whether the fund will be able to satisfy its minimum loss fund or retention requirements.

(e) Whether the applicant has demonstrated that it has the necessary financial strength and provides the necessary financial security to guarantee the payment of workers’ compensation benefits.

(4) Failure to meet any of the criteria or provide the documentation contained in these rules shall be grounds for denial of the application.

(5) After completing its review of all required documentation contained in these rules, the Office shall issue its decision on the approval or denial of the application in accordance with the model rules of procedure.

Rulemaking Authority 624.4621 FS. Law Implemented 624.4621 FS. History–New 10-1-82, Amended 12-25-84, Formerly 38F-5.57, Amended 12-19-93, Formerly 38F-5.057, 4-190.056.

69O-190.058 Conditions for Retaining the Self-Insurance Privilege of Self-Insurers Funds.

(1) The self-insurance privilege of a self-insurers fund is granted continuously until revoked.

(2) A review of all self-insurers fund programs will be made annually. As a result of such reviews, changes in the prior requirements to self-insure or the imposition of additional requirements in order to continue to be self-insured may be made pursuant to Rules 69O-190.060 and 69O-190.061, F.A.C.

(3) In addition to complying with the continuing requirements for self-insurance, all self-insurers funds shall be required to submit the following documents and reports on a continuing basis:

(a) Annual financial statements, audited financial statements, and actuarial reports pursuant to Rule 69O-190.059, F.A.C.

(b) Annual Summary Loss Reports on each member pursuant to paragraph 69O-190.062(1)(a), F.A.C.

(c) Annual Payroll Reports on each member pursuant to paragraph 69O-190.062(1)(b), F.A.C.

(d) Quarterly Financial Statements pursuant to Rule 69O-190.059, F.A.C., and Status Reports pursuant to paragraph 69O-190.062(1)(c), F.A.C.

(e) Proof of servicing pursuant to Rule 69O-190.031, F.A.C.

(f) Proof of excess coverage pursuant to Rules 69O-190.061 and 69O-190.035, F.A.C.

(g) Copies of endorsements to excess policies pursuant to Rule 69O-190.036, F.A.C.

(h) Copies of surety bonds or riders pursuant to Rules 69O-190.060 and 69O-190.032, F.A.C.

(i) Proof of cash securities pursuant to Rule 69O-190.032, F.A.C.

(j) Reporting changes in coverage of the membership pursuant to subsection 69O-190.062(3), F.A.C.

(k) Changes in by-laws or trust agreement and written policies pursuant to subsection 69O-190.064(20), F.A.C.

(l) Fidelity bonds, riders, insurance policies or endorsements pursuant to subsection 69O-190.064(5), F.A.C.

(m) Copies of new member applications pursuant to subsection 69O-190.062(2), F.A.C.

(n) Estimated Breakdown of Policy Year Expenses pursuant to subsection 69O-190.059(6), F.A.C.

(4) Whenever the Office determines that the fund has knowingly submitted an application containing false or misleading information, the Office may proceed with revocation of the self-insurer status of the fund.

(5) If any fund intentionally submits any false or misleading document or report required by these rules, the Office may proceed with revocation of the self-insurer status of the fund.

Rulemaking Authority 440.39(1)(b), (2)(b), 624.4621 FS. Law Implemented 440.39(1)(b), (2)(b), 624.4621 FS. History–New 10-1-82, Amended 12-25-84, Formerly 38F-5.58, Amended 12-19-93, Formerly 38F-5.058.

69O-190.059 Financial and Actuarial Reports for Self-Insurers Funds.

(1) Each fund shall file with the Office quarterly financial statements on OIR Form BSI-28 or the 1992 National Association of Insurance Commissioners (NAIC) Quarterly Statement, Fire and Casualty Companies Association Edition in its entirety.

(2) Each fund shall file with the Office an annual financial statement on OIR Form BSI-29 or the following portions of the 1992 National Association of Insurance Commissioners Annual Statement, Fire and Casualty Companies Association Edition: Jurat Page; Statutory Balance Sheet; Underwriting and Investment Exhibit – Income Statement; Cash Flow; Underwriting and Investment Exhibit Part 1, Part 1A, Part 2, Part 2A, Part 3, Part 3A, and Part 4; Exhibit 1 – Analysis of Assets; Exhibit 2 – Analysis of Non-Admitted Assets; Notes to Financial Statements; Five Year Historical Data (NOTE: funds shall complete this form on a going forward basis); Schedule of Special Deposits; Schedule A Part 1; Schedule B; Schedule BA; Schedule C; Schedule D Part 1, Part 1A, Part 3, Part 4 and Part 5 (NOTE: only 4th quarter transactions need to be reported); Schedule DA Part 1; Schedule F – Part 1A (NOTE: any amounts in dispute must be disclosed); Schedule M; Schedule N; Schedule P, Part 1 Summary, Part 2 Summary, Part 3 Summary, Part 5 Summary, interrogatories; Schedule X; Schedule Y.

(a) As part of its annual financial statement each fund shall file with the Office an Estimated Breakdown of Policy Year Expenses on OIR Form BSI-21 within 60 days after the beginning of each policy year. The projection of its anticipated income and expenses, shall also include the comparable, actual results for the immediate preceding year.

(3) The quarterly and annual financial statements, required by subsections 69O-190.059(1) and 69O-190.059(2), F.A.C., shall be prepared in accordance with the NAIC’s Annual Statement Instructions, Property and Casualty, 1993 edition, and the NAIC’s Accounting Practices and Procedures Manual for Property and Casualty Insurance Companies, 1993 edition. The NAIC’s Accounting Practices and Procedures Manual for Property and Casualty Insurance Companies applies to the preparation of all statements required by this rule, except that the following shall be admitted assets:

(a) Prepaid expenses which have a liquidation value.

(b) Equipment, furniture and fixtures depreciated using a 5-year useful life.

(c) Deferred taxes when the deferred tax asset is created by timing differences in the treatment of bad debt reserves, unearned premiums, and accrued dividends. Such timing differences shall reverse within two years in order to be eligible, and the fund shall provide to the division a statement from the fund’s Certified Public Accountant or Tax Attorney that in the event of the insolvency of the fund, these deferred tax assets will generate a refund of prior years’ taxes to the estate of the fund. The fund shall also provide upon request from the division a detailed disclosure of the components of the deferred tax asset deemed by the fund to be an admitted asset. This provision shall become inoperative as of December 31, 1995, and deferred taxes shall be deemed nonadmitted assets for all fiscal years beginning after December 31, 1995.

(d) An aggregate write-in on the balance sheet of the annual statement for assets and policy holder’s surplus, an entry for future investment income on losses and allocated loss adjustment expense reserves and unallocated loss adjustment expense reserves shall be reflected. Future investment income shall be calculated as follows:
	A + B + C - D

	A
	=
	Losses and Allocated Loss Adjustment Expense Reserves.

	B
	=
	Unallocated Loss Adjustment Expense Reserves.

	C
	=
	Excess of Statutory Reserves over Statement Reserves.

	D
	=
	The present value of A + B + C.


Present value of Unallocated Loss Adjustment Expense Reserves, Present Value of Loss and Allocated Loss Adjustment Expense Reserves, or Present Value of Excess of Statutory Reserves over Statement Reserves means reserves discounted to present value using the most recent United States Internal Revenue Service present value factors.

(4) Each fund shall file with the Office an annual audited financial statement prepared in accordance with the NAIC’s Accounting Practices and Procedures Manual for Property and Casualty Insurance Companies, 1993 edition.

(a) Annual audited financial statements shall disclose audited premiums based on the audit of the payrolls of fund members who represent at least 90 percent of the fund’s annual normal premium. The type of payroll audit is set forth in Rule 69O-190.073, F.A.C. Nothing in this rule prohibits a fund from doing interim payroll audits, as allowed in Rule 69O-190.073, F.A.C., when the fund determines it must do so to comply with this rule.

(b) The annual audited financial statement shall include the following:

1. Report of an independent certified public accountant. If the report is qualified by the independent certified public accountant the Office shall require the fund to provide a plan to correct the deficiencies noted in the report.

2. Balance sheet reporting admitted assets, liabilities, capital and surplus.

3. Statement of operations.

4. Statement of cash flows.

5. Statement of changes in capital and surplus.

6. The notes to financial statements shall be those required by the NAIC’s Annual Statement Instructions, Property and Casualty, 1992 edition, and any other notes required by generally accepted accounting principles. The notes shall also include a reconciliation of differences, if any, between the annual audited financial statement required by subsection 69O-190.059(4), F.A.C., and the annual financial statement required by subsection 69O-190.059(2), F.A.C., with a written description of the nature of these differences.

7. The annual audited financial statement required by subsection 69O-190.059(4), F.A.C., shall be prepared in a form and using substantially the same language and groupings substantially the same as the relevant sections of the annual financial statement of the fund required by subsection 69O-190.059(2), F.A.C. The annual audited financial statement shall be comparative, presenting the amounts as of the end of the current fiscal year and the amounts as of the immediately preceding fiscal year. However, in the first year in which a fund is required to file an annual audited financial statement, the comparative data may be omitted. The fund may submit an audited form BSI-29 if it so chooses, providing the independent certified public accountant report is provided as an addendum to the form.

8. The annual audited financial statement shall reflect, at a minimum, the reserves which have been deemed appropriate by the funds actuaries in the actuarial certification. If the certified public accountant discovers information which may alter the reserves determined by the actuary, they shall notify both the Office and the actuary. If the Office and the actuary concur that this information will materially alter the reserves as determined by the actuary and the report cannot be timely filed, the Office may waive the requirements in subsection 69O-190.038(3), F.A.C., for filing a request for extension. In no event shall the extension be granted for more than 30 days.

9. OIR Form BSI 30, report on Preferred Payment Plans.

10. A copy of the management letter as prepared by the certified public accountant in conjunction with the audit of the fund.

11. A list of the current trustees of the fund along with their business affiliation, the business address, and business phone number.

(5) Each fund shall file with the Division at the same time as the fund’s annual audited financial statement an actuarial report prepared by a qualified actuary. The actuarial report shall evaluate the loss development of the fund and estimate the loss reserve including allocated and unallocated loss adjustment expenses and incurred but not reported reserves.

(a) A completed OIR Form BSI-26, Checklist for the Submission of Loss Reserve Reports, shall accompany each actuarial report submitted pursuant to this rule. Actuarial reports shall contain, at a minimum, summaries of the computations and methodologies used to estimate the fund’s loss reserves. These reports shall include loss development triangles for all funds with 5 or more years experience. These loss triangles shall include, paid losses, incurred losses, and number of open claims.

(b) Loss reserves in the actuarial report:

1. Shall be calculated in accordance with Sections 625.091, except that 625.091(2)(a), F.S., the discount factor shall be 0%.

2. Shall not contain subrogation awards except for those amounts which have been awarded in a court of law.

(6) Quarterly or annual financial statements or actuarial reports shall contain loss reserves which have not been adjusted to reflect recoveries from the Special Disability Trust Fund (SDTF) except for:

(a) Those recoveries which have been approved by the Special Disability Trust Fund, awarded by a Judge of Compensation Claims, or awarded by a ruling of the First District Court of Appeals.

(b) The prohibition and limitations in this rule against adjustment of loss reserves for anticipated SDTF recoveries does not preclude the use of historical data pertaining to the fund’s actual recoveries by actuaries in computations and methodologies implicitly used to develop ultimate reserves.

(7) Any fund whose financial condition is shown to be deficient in the financial statements required by this rule shall be allowed to file a corrective action plan to correct any deficiency. Such corrective action plan shall disclose what specific areas of the fund operations will be addressed, and the time table for taking such actions. If the corrective action plan encompasses more than one reporting (calendar or fiscal) year, the Office shall require that the corrective action plan be revised at the end of each fiscal year if the actual performance of the fund for that reporting year varies more than 10% from the corrective action plan. Such corrective action plan shall be submitted within sixty days of the receipt of notification from the Office. Extensions shall be granted for good cause.

(8) Each fund shall make a copy of its quarterly financial statement, annual financial statement, annual audited financial statement, and actuarial report available to members of the fund upon request. This requirement may be satisfied by making available annually to new and renewal members an extract of the statements or report; the form of such extract shall be approved by the Office in advance of distribution. Such approval shall be given if the Office determines that the extracted information fairly and accurately represents the financial condition of the fund, and discloses any material footnote information disclosed in the filings with the Office. In lieu of Office approval, the fund’s certified public accountant and qualified actuary from whose reports the extracts are derived, may file a statement with the Office that they have reviewed the extract and have no objections to it. Such a statement shall contain a copy of the extract for the Office’s file.

(9) Due date of quarterly, annual and audited financial statements. Each fund shall submit four (4) quarterly statements which shall be due 45 days after the end of the fund’s fiscal quarter. The annual statement and audited annual report shall be due on or before the last day of the sixth month after the end of the fund’s fiscal year.

(10) Effective Date. All funds shall comply with this rule for fiscal years beginning after December 31, 1993, and each year thereafter.

(11) Requests for an extension of time to file quarterly, annual, and audited financial statements must be received in writing at least 15 days before the date the report is due. The request must include the reason the extension is requested. Any request received 14 days or less before the date the report is due will be denied except for, but not limited to, death of key management personnel, destruction of records or facilities by fire, flood, hurricane, or some other natural disaster, or act not under control of the management.

Rulemaking Authority 440.5705, 440.591, 624.4621 FS. Law Implemented 624.316, 624.424, 624.4621 FS. History–New 10-1-82, Amended 12-25-84, 12-17-85, Formerly 38F-5.59, Amended 3-11-87, 3-11-90, 12-19-93, Formerly 38F-5.059, 4-190.059.

69O-190.0591 Independent Certified Public Accountants.

(1) Designation of Independent Certified Public Accountant.

(a) Each fund required by subsection 69O-190.059(4), F.A.C., to file an annual audited financial statement shall, by the end of the fiscal year subject to audit, notify the Office in writing of the name and address of the fund’s independent certified public accountant or accounting firm (generally referred to in this rule as the “accountant”) retained to conduct the annual audit required by subsection 69O-190.059(4), F.A.C.

(b) The fund shall obtain a letter from the accountant, and file a copy with the Office, stating that the accountant is aware of the provisions of the Florida Statutes which relate to the financial reporting and operation of the fund and the Rules and of the Office, and affirming that he will express his opinion on the financial statements in terms of their conformity to the NAIC’s Accounting Practices and Procedures Manual for Property and Casualty Insurance Companies, 1993 edition, specifying the exceptions as he may believe appropriate.

(c) If an accountant who was the accountant for the immediately preceding filed annual audited financial statement is dismissed or resigns, the fund shall within five (5) business days notify the Office of this event. The fund shall also furnish the Office with a separate letter within ten (10) business days of the above notification stating whether in the twenty-four (24) months preceding that event there were any disagreements with the former accountant on any matter of accounting principles or practices, financial statement disclosure, or auditing scope or procedure; which disagreements, if not resolved to the satisfaction of the former accountant, would have caused him to make reference to the subject matter of the disagreement in connection with his opinion. The disagreements required to be reported in response to this section include both those resolved to the former accountant’s satisfaction and those not resolved to the former accountant’s satisfaction.

(d) Disagreements contemplated by this section are those that occur at the decision-making level, i.e., between personnel of the fund responsible for presentation of its financial statements and personnel of the accounting firm responsible for rendering its report. The fund shall also in writing request the former accountant to furnish a letter addressed to the fund stating whether the accountant agrees with the statements contained in the fund’s letter, and if not, stating the reasons for which he does not agree; and the fund shall furnish the responsive letter from the former accountant to the Office together with its own.

(e) The reporting requirements in paragraphs (c) and (d), above, shall also apply to the fund’s qualified actuary.

(2) Qualifications of Independent Certified Public Accountant.

(a) The Office shall not recognize any person or firm as a qualified independent certified public accountant that is not in good standing with the licensing authority or accrediting authority for certified public accountants in the State of Florida.

(b) Except as otherwise provided herein, an independent certified public accountant shall be recognized as qualified as long as he or she prepares reports, filings, and statements as required by Florida Statutes, and conforms to the standards of his or her profession as contained in the Rules and Regulations and Code of Ethics and Rules of Professional Conduct of the Florida Board of Public Accountancy, or similar code.

(3) Scope of Examination and Report of Independent Certified Public Accountant. Annual audited financial statements required by subsection 69O-190.059(4), F.A.C., shall be examined by an independent certified public accountant in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. Consideration should also be given to the procedures set forth in the Financial Condition Examiner’s Handbook of the National Association of Insurance Commissioners, 1993 edition.

(4) Notification of Adverse Financial Condition.

(a) Each fund shall require the independent certified public accountant to report, in writing, within five (5) business days to the board of trustees and its audit committee any determination by the independent certified public accountant that the fund has materially misstated its financial condition as reported to the Office as of the balance sheet date currently under examination. A fund which has received a report pursuant to this paragraph shall forward a copy of the report to the Office within five (5) business days of receipt of said report and shall provide the independent certified public accountant making the report with evidence of the report being furnished to the Office. If the independent certified public accountant fails to receive the evidence within the required five (5) business day period, the independent certified public accountant shall furnish to the Office a copy of its report within the next five (5) business days.

(b) An independent certified public accountant shall not be liable in any manner to any person for any statement made in connection with the paragraph 69O-190.0591(4)(a), F.A.C., if the statement is made in good faith in compliance with paragraph 69O-190.0591(4)(a), F.A.C.

(c) If the accountant, subsequent to the date of the annual audited financial statement filed pursuant to subsection 69O-190.059(4), F.A.C., becomes aware of facts which might have affected his report, the accountant shall report those facts to the Office and the fund within seven (7) business days of discovery.

(5) Report on Significant Deficiencies in Internal Controls. In addition to the annual audited financial statement required by subsection 69O-190.059(4), F.A.C., each fund shall file with the Office with a written report prepared by the accountant describing significant deficiencies in the fund’s internal control structure noted by the accountant during the audit. The report on significant deficiencies in internal controls of the fund shall be filed with the annual audited financial statement. The report on significant deficiencies in internal controls may be filed as part of the management letter, or may be a separate report. The fund is required to provide a description of remedial actions taken or proposed to correct significant deficiencies, if said actions are not described in the accountant’s report.

(6) Definition, Availability, and Maintenance of CPA Workpapers.

(a) Every fund shall require the accountant to make available for review by Office examiners all workpapers prepared in the conduct of his examination, and any communications related to the audit between the accountant and the fund at the offices of the fund, the offices of the certified public accountant, or at any other reasonable place agreed to by the Office. The fund shall require that the accountant retain the audit workpapers and communications until the Office has filed a report on examination covering the period of the audit, but no less than seven (7) years from the date of the audit reports.

(7) Funds shall be subject to examination pursuant to Section 624.316, F.S. Funds shall reimburse the Office for actual expenses incurred for the examination pursuant to Sections 624.316 and 624.320, F.S.

Rulemaking Authority 440.5705, 624.4621 FS. Law Implemented 624.316, 624.424, 624.4621 FS. History–New 12-19-93, Formerly 38F-5.0591, 4-190.0591.

69O-190.060 Security Deposits or Bonds for Self-Insurers Fund.

(1) Pursuant to Section 624.4621, F.S., each self-insurers fund shall deposit with the Office acceptable securities or post a surety bond issued by a corporate surety authorized to do business in the State of Florida or make provisions as otherwise provided in these rules.

(2) The security deposit or bond required of a self-insurers fund providing coverage under Section 624.4621, F.S., shall be equal to the greater of:

(a) $250,000;
(b) 10% of the normal premium; and,
(c) 10% of the total loss reserves.

The amount of the security deposit or bond shall be determined at least annually based on data submitted by the self-insurers fund to the Office for the previous fiscal year end. Documents assigning investment assets to the division shall be filed with the division within 90 days of the effective date of these rules. Extensions may be granted for good cause.

(3) The security deposit requirement shall be satisfied by one of the following means:

(a) Self-insurers funds, upon application and during the first 24 months of operation, may post a surety bond to satisfy the security deposit requirement.

(b) All other funds shall satisfy the security deposit requirement by allocation of general investment assets of the fund to the division. No monies may be allocated from surplus in the loss fund in a given fund year until at least 12 months after the close of the fund year.

(c) If assets are not available, then the fund may post a surety bond in the amount of the difference between the amount of the security deposit requirement and the amount of assets available.

(d) The amount of the surety bond posted shall be considered a contingent liability. The necessity of the surety bond shall be eliminated before any dividends from premiums or investment income will be approved. If the deficiency is not completely eliminated within 12 months after the Office notifies the fund that a deficiency exists, then the failure to eliminate the deficiency shall be evidence of the fund’s failure to satisfy the mandatory reserve requirements. Such failure shall be good cause for the revocation of the fund’s self-insurance privilege and for the ordering of the assessment of the membership.

(4) Any surety bond posted by a self-insurers fund shall contain the provision that the surety agrees to provide reimbursements under the terms of the bond immediately upon failure or refusal of the self-insurers fund to meet any of its obligations under the Law.

Rulemaking Authority 440.38(2)(b), 624.4621 FS. Law Implemented 440.38(2)(b), (3), 624.4621 FS. History–New 10-1-82, Amended 12-25-84, Formerly 38F-5.60, Amended 12-19-93, Formerly 38F-5.060, 4-190.060.

69O-190.061 Excess Insurance Requirements ‒ Self-Insurers Funds.

(1) When used in this rule, the following words or terms shall have the meaning as described herein:

(a) Loss fund – the retention under the terms of an aggregate excess contract, or if no aggregate excess is purchased, the amount remaining from normal premium in each fund year after all necessary expenses are paid. For the purposes of paragraphs 69O-190.061(8)(b) and (c), F.A.C., no loss fund shall be less than 70 percent of earned normal premium without the approval of the Office.

(b) Aggregate loss – the amount of all claims incurred, including reserves for loss development and IBNR, which exceeds the loss fund.

(2) All self-insurers funds shall maintain specific excess insurance with a limit or not less than $1,000,000 or 5 times the policy retention whichever is greater. This amount shall not include the retention amount. Self-insurers funds containing businesses with a high risk of multiple injury from a single accident may be required to maintain higher limits. In determining whether to require such higher limits, the Office shall consider the likelihood of serious multiple injuries occurring in a single accident and the financial condition of the fund.

(3) The maximum retention allowed for a fund’s specific excess policy shall be in accordance with the following schedule unless a waiver is granted pursuant to subsections (4), (5), (6) and (7):

(a) For funds with a loss fund of less than $3,000,000 the maximum retention shall be $225,000.

(b) For funds with a loss fund greater than or equal to $3,000,000 and less than $4,000,000, the maximum retention shall be $230,000.

(c) For funds with a loss fund greater than or equal to $4,000,000 and less than $5,000,000, the maximum retention shall be $240,000.

(d) For funds with a loss fund greater than or equal to $5,000,000 and less than $6,000,000, the maximum retention shall be $250,000.

(e) For funds with a loss fund greater than or equal to $6,000,000, and less than $7,000,000, the maximum retention shall be $260,000.

(f) For funds with a loss fund greater than or equal to $7,000,000 and less than $8,000,000, the maximum retention shall be $270,000.

(g) For funds with a loss fund greater than or equal to $8,000,000 and less than $9,000,000, the maximum retention shall be $280,000.

(h) For funds with a loss fund greater than or equal to $9,000,000 and less than $10,000,000, the maximum retention shall be $290,000.

(i) For funds with a loss fund greater than or equal to $10,000,000 and less than $50,000,000, the maximum retention shall be 3 percent of the fund’s loss fund.

(j) For funds with a loss fund greater than or equal to $50,000,000 and less than $100,000,000, the maximum retention shall be 3.5 percent of the fund’s loss fund.

(k) For funds with a loss fund greater than or equal to $100,000,000 the maximum retention shall be 4 percent of the fund’s loss fund.

(l) Regardless of any maximum contained in this paragraph, no fund shall secure a retention which is not actuarially sound. Upon the request of the Office, a fund shall submit evidence of the actuarial soundness of its desired retention in a report prepared by its actuary. In the event that the fund does not have its own actuary, the Office shall prepare its own report on the actuarial soundness of the retention. After evaluating all evidence the Office shall determine if the desired retention is actuarially sound. In the event the desired retention is not actuarially sound, the Office shall not approve the desired retention.

(4) If a fund wishes to secure a specific excess policy with a retention greater than the maximum allowed by subsection (3), then the fund shall comply with the procedure described in subsections (5), (6) and (7).

(5) Funds which have been in operation at least 60 months may request permission to secure a retention higher than that authorized by subsection (3). A fund shall submit a feasibility study prepared by a qualified actuary which analyzes the impact on the fund of the higher retention. The study shall be in writing and shall be submitted to the Office at least 90 days prior to the beginning of the fund year for which the higher retention is requested. The Office shall advise the fund of its decision on allowing the higher retention no later than 45 days prior to the beginning of the fund year in question. If the fund has elected to make application for establishing an aggregate reserve, the specific excess feasibility study may be combined with the aggregate excess feasibility study. If the two studies are combined, the actuary shall specify the intent for the report to satisfy both requirements.

(6) The specific excess study shall analyze the past 5 fund years and illustrate the effect on the fund had the higher retention been in place during the past 5 fund years. The study shall also examine the impact of the higher retention on the fund for the next fund year. The report of the actuary shall also describe the method by which the additional reserves due to the higher retention will be funded. Monies used to fund the higher retentions shall be allocated from premium earned during the year the loss was incurred, from investment earnings from the year in which the loss was incurred or from future investment earnings on the specific loss reserve.

(7) The Office shall deny the use of a higher retention if it finds that the higher retention will adversely affect fund solvency or if the fund is unable to establish reserves using monies authorized by subsection (6).

(8) Each self-insurers fund shall provide security for liabilities in excess of its loss fund in each fund year by selecting one of the following alternatives:

(a) Purchasing an acceptable aggregate excess policy as defined in Rules 69O-190.035, 69O-190.036 and 69O-190.061, F.A.C.,

(b) Upon approval by the Office, pursuant to subsection 69O-190.061(12), F.A.C., post a separate cash security deposit in the amount of $1,000,000 or 20 percent (20%) of annual standard premium, whichever is greater; or

(c) Upon written approval of the Office, pursuant to subsections 69O-190.061(13), (14) and (15), F.A.C., establish a reserve for aggregate excess losses in accordance with this rule. A fund shall have been in operation for at least 60 months before this option may be selected.

(9) The insured aggregate limit for a self-insurers fund shall not be less than $1,000,000. Subject to this minimum, the self-insurers fund shall secure an aggregate limit of at least 20 percent (20%) of the annual standard premium of the fund for the term of the policy. The limit so determined shall be rounded to the nearest $100,000. The retention of an aggregate policy is limited to the highest retention that can be funded from normal premium in the fund year without developing a contingent liability. A higher retention than can be funded from normal premium may be allowed by the Office if the resulting contingent liability can be guaranteed by a cash security deposit.

(10) If the option in paragraph 69O-190.061(8)(a), F.A.C., is selected, the self-insurers fund, upon written approval of the Office, may self-insure part of its aggregate limit by posting as a separate cash security deposit for the amount which is self-insured. The procedures set out in paragraph 69O-190.061(8)(b) and subsection (12), F.A.C., shall be used by the Office to determine whether the aggregate may be partially funded by posting a cash security.

(11) No aggregate excess policy shall be acceptable if it contains a provision for a minimum retention or loss fund which is greater than the product of the aggregate excess retention percentage and the fund’s estimated annual normal premium for the term of the policy, unless the fund has sufficient unencumbered surplus to guarantee the resulting contingent liability.

(12) The Office shall grant permission to post the cash security deposit in lieu of the fund purchasing an aggregate excess policy, if the Office determines that based upon a comparison of the assets and liabilities of the fund, the fund has a surplus equal to or greater than the total security deposits required by Rule 69O-190.060, F.A.C., including the cash security to be posted in lieu of purchase of the aggregate excess policy.

(13) If the option in paragraph 69O-190.061(8)(c), F.A.C., is selected, the fund shall make application to the Office, in the manner prescribed herein, at least 90 days prior to the beginning of the first fund year for which permission is requested to establish an aggregate reserve to provide security for aggregate losses. The Office shall render a decision on the application no less than 45 days prior to the beginning of that first fund year. Thereafter, application shall be filed as set out at paragraph 69O-190.061(16)(a), F.A.C., for each year for which permission is sought to establish an aggregate reserve. The time periods set out in this rule shall not apply to applications submitted within the first 90 days after the effective date of this rule.

(14) An application under paragraph 69O-190.061(8)(c), F.A.C., shall be in writing and shall include the following information:

(a) A plan for the first year of operation with a reserve account which establishes the proposed funding of the reserve account. The plan shall set forth the assumptions upon which the funding of the aggregate reserve is based. The plan shall use current rate levels and reasonable estimates of premium income, expenses, and investment rates of return. The plan may also include alternative analyses using anticipated rate level changes, and various assumptions regarding premium income, investment income, and expenses.

(b) A feasibility study by a qualified actuary which evaluates the last 5 fund years. This study must illustrate the effect of using the assumptions contained in the plan applied to the past 5 fund years. In making this study, the rules, as hereinafter provided, governing the funding of the aggregate reserve account shall be used in determining the feasibility of the plan.

(c) A statement by the actuary that, in his opinion, the proposed plan is an actuarially sound method of providing security for aggregate losses on a retrospective and prospective basis. Furthermore, the actuary shall state that the report is complete and accurate and that, in his opinion, the techniques and assumptions used are reasonable and meet the requirements and intent of this rule.

(15) The application shall be rejected if the Office determines that the proposed plan to fund aggregate losses does not comply with this rule.

(16) If a fund receives permission to fund its aggregate losses by establishing an aggregate reserve, the fund shall comply with the following requirements:

(a) At least 60 days prior to the beginning of each policy year for which an aggregate reserve will be established, the fund shall submit a plan for that year as prescribed in paragraphs 69O-190.061(14)(a) and (c), F.A.C. Written approval of the plan by the Office shall be required before an aggregate reserve may be established for the next policy year.

(b) Within 6 months after the end of each fund year, the fund shall submit an actuarial report, by a qualified actuary, of its aggregate reserve for each fund year whose aggregate losses are guaranteed by the reserve. Fund years more than 4 years old may be consolidated for the report. All other years must be evaluated separately.

(c) The actuarial report shall evaluate the losses, estimate loss development and establish a reserve for losses incurred but not reported (IBNR). The report shall provide a single best estimate of ultimate loss for each year evaluated separately and a single best estimate for all years more than 4 years old which are grouped together.

(d) Along with the actuarial report, the fund shall provide financial information which sets forth the financial position of the aggregate reserve. The financial report shall indicate whether the reserve account, including reserves for losses, loss development and IBNR, can be funded from the premium income of the fund. If the monies allocated to the loss fund are insufficient to satisfy the requirements of the aggregate reserve, then the fund shall provide a plan for funding the amounts necessary to make the aggregate reserve actuarially sound.

(e) In developing a plan for funding the aggregate reserve, the actuary shall estimate the amount of time it will take for the fund to pay out the cash currently remaining in its loss fund in each fund year. The plan shall set forth an actuarially sound procedure for allocating money to the aggregate reserve to insure that the fund will have, at any point in the future, sufficient money to meet all its claims payments. At a point in time no later than 4 years from the end of each fund year, the fund shall have fully funded the aggregate reserve for that year, so that taking into account investment earnings, no further contributions will be necessary to fund all future claims liabilities. Failure to meet the requirement for having made all necessary contributions within 4 years shall be good cause for finding that the aggregate reserve is actuarially unsound for purposes of paragraph 69O-190.039(2)(a), F.A.C.

(f) The actuarial report shall also estimate the unfunded liability for each year with an aggregate reserve requirement and determine the ability of the fund to pay its future liabilities under the assumption that no further premium income will be available after the end of the current fund year. The financial report shall review the fund’s liquidity and determine if the fund will have sufficient cash available under the assumption that no further premium income will be earned after the end of the current fund year. Failure to demonstrate that the fund will have sufficient cash to meet its claims obligations or eliminate its unfunded liability without the contribution of additional earned premium from subsequent fund years shall be good cause for finding that the aggregate reserve is actuarially unsound for purposes of paragraph 69O-190.039(2)(a), F.A.C.

(g) In actuarially determining the amount of ultimate loss, the fund and its actuary may take into account current or future recoveries from any aggregate or specific excess contract, if such contract complies with these rules.

(h) Any fund with an approved preferred payment plan shall have its actuary determine the necessary amount of additional premium to be paid by the preferred payment plan participants so that all potential funding deficits in the loss fund will be eliminated. Funds which charge this additional premium shall be excused from the requirement to allocate surplus to the loss fund to fund the deficit as required by paragraph 69O-190.066(8)(k), F.A.C.

(17) The Office shall:

(a) Reject an actuarial report or financial report which does not comply with the requirements of subsection 69O-190.061(16), F.A.C. If this occurs, the Office shall conduct its own actuarial or financial review or upon request of the fund allow the fund to submit another actuarial or financial report within sixty (60) days subject to the Office’s approval of the party preparing the report.

(b) For good cause, order a fund to cease using an aggregate reserve for securing its aggregate losses. Good cause shall include a finding that the aggregate reserve is actuarially unsound, that the fund is insolvent, that the fund will lack sufficient liquidity to run off its claims without reliance on future premium income, or that the fund has failed to comply with the provisions of this rule.

(c) In the event that the fund’s aggregate reserve, or reserves, is actuarially unsound, order the fund to take such corrective action as necessary to make the reserve actuarially sound.

(18) In consideration of approval of its plan to use an aggregate reserve to fund its aggregate losses, the fund agrees to the following:

(a) Payment of dividends from premium in a fund year shall not be requested or approved for that fund year as long as any claims reserves, reserves for loss development or reserves for IBNR are unfunded by actual cash reserves.

(b) No dividends shall be requested or approved from investment earnings unless the aggregate reserves for all years are actuarially sound, taking into account future contributions.

(c) That advance premium discounts and all expenses unnecessary for the fund to meet its obligations under the law will be reduced or eliminated, if necessary, to provide funds to make an aggregate reserve actuarially sound.

(d) That the amounts actuarially determined to be necessary for the reserves for loss development shall be in addition to the fund’s security deposit requirement as specified in Rule 69O-190.060, F.A.C.

(e) That no premium from a year prior to the year for which the aggregate reserve is established may be allocated to fund an aggregate reserve until 12 months after the close of the prior year.
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69O-190.062 Filing Reports ‒ Self-Insurers Funds.

(1) Reports as to payroll records, coverage, accident experience and compensation payment and such periodic reports as are required to be filed with the Office shall be made as follows:

(a) Summary loss data shall be filed with the Office on each fund member within 60 days after the evaluation date of the losses being reported on OIR Form BSI-17. Procedures for reporting losses as specified in subsection 69O-190.050(3), F.A.C., shall apply.

(b) Properly classified and audited payrolls on each fund member shall be submitted to the Office on OIR Form BSI-5 within 60 days after the evaluation date of the summary loss information required in paragraph (a) above. The classification and audit procedures specified in subsection 69O-190.050(1), F.A.C., shall apply.

(c) Quarterly Status Reports submitted on OIR Form BSI-24 (Revised 3-11-87), which accurately reflect the financial condition of each open fund year shall be filed with the Office within thirty (30) days after the close of each fund year quarter and signed by the chairman of the board of trustees or authorized self-insurers fund administrator. A fund year is considered open as long as one claim from that fund year remains unsettled.

(2) After the inception date of the fund, prospective new members of the self-insurers fund shall submit an application for membership to the board of trustees or its administrator on OIR Form BSI-3 or its equivalent. The trustees or administrator must approve the application for membership in accordance with these rules and the terms of the indemnity agreement for the application to be binding upon the self-insurers fund and the prospective member. A copy of the application for membership shall be filed with the Office along with a properly completed OIR Form BSI-206 within twenty-one (21) days after the effective date of membership.

(3) It shall be the responsibility of each self-insurers fund member to notify the fund to which it belongs or its service company of any changes in the names, addresses, structure and composition of all businesses or subsidiaries which participate in the self-insurers fund. It shall also be the responsibility of the fund member to notify the fund or service company of any additions or deletions in the business or subsidiaries participating in the fund. These changes include changes in majority ownership interest in any business or subsidiary that is covered or that will be covered by the fund. All such changes shall be reported to the fund or its service company within 30 days after the effective date of the change. Each self-insurers fund or service company shall notify the Office, by written endorsement, of any such changes reported to it by its members within 30 days after it has first knowledge of the change. Repeated failure to file the required endorsements within the time prescribed shall result in civil penalties being assessed pursuant to Rule 69O-190.038, F.A.C. If the Office determines the self-insurers fund members made the late reporting, then the penalty shall be assessed against the member; otherwise, the penalty shall be assessed against the self-insurers fund.
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69O-190.063 Annual Review and Examination ‒ Self-Insurers Funds.

(1) All bonds or securities issued by the State of Florida or the United States Government which are posted as security deposits shall be reviewed annually by the Office to determine market value. In the event market value is less than the deposit requirement, the Office may require that additional securities be posted by the self-insurer. In making such a determination, the Office shall consider the self-insurer’s financial condition, the amount that market value is less than the deposit requirement and the likelihood that such securities will be needed to provide benefits.

(2) All self-insurers funds shall maintain at a central location within the State of Florida such records as are necessary to verify the accuracy and completeness of all reports submitted to the Office pursuant to these rules as well as all reports necessary to establish the financial solvency of the self-insurers fund. Furthermore, the central location shall be the office of the administrator or fiscal agent of the self-insurers fund. However, the self-insurers fund shall be authorized to transfer its financial records to the offices of the Certified Public Accountant for the self-insurers fund upon the written permission of the Office. In addition, if the self-insurers fund has contracted with a service company for claims handling, then the claims files and related records may be located at the offices of the service company as long as they are within the State of Florida.

(3) All records as herein required shall be open to inspection by authorized representatives of the Office during regular business hours. Records shall be retained for a period of time sufficient to ensure their availability for audit purposes. In the absence of other guidelines, the records shall be retained according to the schedule adopted by the Office for similar records. The location of these records shall be made known to the Office upon the application for self-insurance and at such times thereafter sufficient to keep the Office informed of their location.

(4) The fund, in any agreement or contract with the administrator or fiscal agent, shall require that the records of the administrator or fiscal agent which pertain to fund operations, assets or liabilities under Chapter 440, F.S., shall be open to inspection by authorized representatives of the Office during regular business hours.

(5) Each self-insurers fund’s records shall be examined in accordance with Section 624.316, F.S., by representatives of the Office at such time as may be determined by the Office. Prior notice of the audit shall not be required. This audit is in addition to any audit performed in preparation of the financial reports required by these rules.

(6) Each self-insurers fund shall comply with the guidelines regarding questionable claims handling techniques, questionable patterns of claims, repeated unreasonably controverted claims or poor payment practices established pursuant to Section 440.20(16), Florida Statutes.

(7) After each audit, a written report shall be prepared with a copy to the self-insurers fund; such report to be a part of the annual review for compliance with these rules. Any deficiencies cited by this report shall be considered on their merit in determining if there are grounds for revocation of the self-insurance privilege or the imposition of penalties pursuant to subsection (9). Within 45 days after the receipt of an audit report which contains findings that the fund violated a rule contained in rule Chapter 69O-190, F.A.C., the trustees shall convene a meeting to discuss the report. The discussion of the report shall be noted in the minutes of the meeting.

(8) As part of its annual review and audit, the Office shall determine if the self-insurers fund has a contingent liability. In the event the fund is found to have a contingent liability, the Office shall inform the fund and order that this liability be funded in accordance with subsections 69O-190.060(2) and 69O-190.065(5), F.A.C.

(9) In addition to the penalties prescribed in Rule 69O-190.038, F.A.C., the Office may impose civil penalties not to exceed $100 for each violation of the Law or these rules. Penalties shall be imposed pursuant to Section 440.021, F.S.

Rulemaking Authority 440.38(2)(b), (3), 624.4621 FS. Law Implemented 440.38(2)(b), 624.4621 FS. History–New 10-1-82, Amended 12-25-84, Formerly 38F-5.63, Amended 3-11-87, 12-19-93, Formerly 38F-5.063, 4-190.063.

69O-190.064 Trustees’ Responsibilities.

(1) The board of trustees shall have complete authority over and shall retain ultimate control of the assets of the fund and shall be responsible for all operations of the fund.

(2) The trustees shall have the authority to approve applications for membership in the fund. The trustees may delegate this authority to the administrator.

(3) The composition of the board of trustees shall be as follows:

(a) A majority of the board shall be owners, officers, directors, partners or employees of one or more members of the fund.

(b) A trustee, or relative of the trustee, shall not be an owner, officer, director, partner or employee of the fund’s service company. This does not apply to employment of a relative of the trustee in which the relative’s duties are of a clerical, or non-managerial nature. Non-managerial being a position which cannot affect the financial standing of a self-insurer, or the benefits to which an injured employee is entitled under Chapter 440, F.S.

(4) The trustees shall act in a prudent and responsible manner in safeguarding the assests of the fund. The trustees may designate a fiscal agent to oversee, invest and disburse the fund’s assets on a day-to-day basis. The trustees may designate an administrator to handle the management of the fund on a day-to-day basis. The administrator may also be delegated the responsibilities of a fiscal agent.

(5) The administrator, fiscal agent or any other individual with authority to disburse funds shall furnish a fidelity bond or insurance policy payable to the trustees in an amount sufficient to protect the fund’s assets against misappropriation or misuse. The amount of the bond shall an amount equal to not less than 10 percent of the funds handled annually and issued in the name of the fund covering its trustees, employees, administrator, or other individuals managing or handling the funds or assets of the fund. In no case may such bond be less than $1,000 or more than $500,000, except that the division may for good cause prescribe an amount in excess of $500,000, subject to the 10-percent limitation of the preceding sentence.

(6) The fiscal agent, or administrator, or service company shall be subject to the following conditions:

(a) A fiscal agent or administrator shall be an employee of or under contract to the fund.

(b) The administrator may provide some or all of the services required by the rules.

(c) In delegating authority to the administrator, fiscal agent or service company, the trustees shall insure that no conflict of interest exists between the interests of the fund and that of the administrator, fiscal agent, or service company. In the event that fiscal authority is delegated, the trustees shall insure that adequate division of responsibility exists and that satisfactory internal fiscal controls are established to safeguard the fund’s assets.

(d) If the administrator provides claims adjusting services to the fund, the trustees shall not delegate any fiscal authority to the administrator except for control of the claims revolving fund.

(e) If the administrator or its representative, or any officer, director, partner, or management of the service company has a business or financial relationship with a business providing goods or services to the fund, then:

1. Such relationship shall be disclosed by the administrator or service company in writing to the trustees and to the audit committee; and,
2. All business transactions between the fund and the business providing goods or services shall be conducted so that said business or financial relationship will not influence the outcome of the transactions; and,
3. The trustees shall exercise all reasonable precautions so that the business providing goods or services is not unjustly enriched due to the business or financial relationship with the administrator or service company.

(f) Upon receipt of notification as required by subparagraph (e)1., above, the minutes of the next Trustee’s meeting shall reflect the discussion of the notification and the action taken by the trustees. The fund shall also maintain a file of the written notices for review by the division.

(g) The trustees shall establish an audit committee subject to the following conditions:

1. The committee shall be independent of the control of the administrator and the service company and shall report directly to the trustees.

2. The committee shall be responsible on a continuing basis for determining that the fund has instituted and is complying with satisfactory internal fiscal controls in order to protect the fund’s assets.

3. The committee shall investigate all potential conflicts of interest involving the administrator or service company. It shall report in writing to the trustees all cases of actual conflict of interest.

4. The committee shall work closely with the fund’s certified public accountants to verify the accuracy and completeness of the fund’s financial records and reports.

5. The management of the fund, the administrator, or officer, stockholder, owner, management of the service company shall not be represented on the committee.

6. The committee shall make at least one written report to the trustees per year detailing its activities and findings.

7. All committee reports shall be reviewed by the trustees and such reviews shall be noted in the minutes of the meeting at which the review was discussed.

8. All written reports by the committee shall be made available for review by authorized representatives of the Office as part of the audit of the fund.

(7) The trustees may establish a revolving fund for the use of the service company for the payment of claims and related expenses, subject to the following:

(a) The service company shall furnish a fidelity bond or insurance policy covering its officers and employees, payable to the trustees of the fund in an amount sufficient to protect all monies placed in the revolving fund. The amount shall be no less than the one months average receipts deposited into the revolving fund. Average receipts shall be the total deposits made during the previous fund year divided by twelve (12).

(b) If the bond or policy required pursuant to subsection 69O-190.064(5), F.A.C., also covers the monies in the revolving fund, a separate bond or policy shall not be required from the service company.

(8) All fidelity bonds or insurance policies required by subsection 69O-190.064(5) and paragraph 69O-190.064(7)(a), F.A.C., may provide for a deductible of not more than $5,000.

(9) The trustees shall maintain up-to-date, accurate, and complete records of the fund’s finances. The accounts and records of the fund shall be audited at least annually and at any other time necessary to determine the financial condition of the fund.

(10) The trustees shall obtain audits of the fund and disclose the financial condition of the fund as indicated below.

(a) Audits shall be made by a certified public accountant. Audits may also be made by authorized representatives of the Office.

(b) The Office shall prescribe a standard report of financial condition to be used by all self-insurers funds pursuant to Rule 69O-190.059, F.A.C.

(c) The Office reserves the right to prescribe the types of audits to be performed to determine fund solvency.

(d) The reserves for losses and loss development shall be reviewed annually pursuant to Rule 69O-190.059, F.A.C., to determine the adequacy of these reserves.

(e) Copies of all audits and financial reports required pursuant to Rule 69O-190.059, F.A.C., and prepared by personnel other than Office personnel shall be filed with the Office pursuant to Rule 69O-190.059, F.A.C.

(11) Subject to the terms and conditions indicated below, the trustees may establish a penalty rate to produce premium in excess of standard premium for any class of employers with unfavorable loss experience.

(a) The trustees shall submit to the Office a justification for the application of the penalty rate as well as a description of how it will be applied.

(b) Approval by the Office shall be required prior to implementation of the penalty rate.

(c) Employers subject to a penalty rate shall be notified in writing prior to the effective date of the penalty rate.

(12) The trustees, fiscal agent, or administrator shall not utilize any of the money collected as premium from members for any purpose other than those specifically authorized by these rules or the fund’s indemnity agreement.

(13) The trustees shall be prohibited from borrowing money from the fund or in the name of the fund without obtaining prior approval from the Office. Approval shall be granted only if:

(a) The loan is for a productive purpose;
(b) It is consistent with the fund’s purpose; and,
(c) It does not impair the financial solvency of the fund.

(14) The trustees shall be authorized to invest the fund’s assets only in the manner prescribed by Rule 69O-190.071, F.A.C.

(15) The safety of any investment shall be the responsibility of the trustees.

(16) The trustees shall be prohibited from making any type of investment as authorized by these rules with the intent to trade, dispose or sell the security in any manner other than redeeming it at maturity. Therefore, it shall be the responsibility of the trustees to purchase securities in such denominations and with dates of maturity to ensure that these securities shall be redeemable at the same time and in the same amounts as the self-insurers fund’s current and long-term liabilities.

(17) The trustees of each authorized self-insurers fund shall cause to be adopted a set of by-laws or shall enter into a trust agreement which shall govern the operation of the fund. These by-laws or trust agreement shall contain, but not be limited to the following subjects:

(a) Qualifications for self-insurers fund membership including underwriting considerations.

(b) The method for selecting the trustees, including the term of office.

(c) The method of amending the by-laws.

(d) Employer’s Liability Limit provided by the self-insurers fund.

(e) The amount of the trustees’ remuneration which is in excess of actual expenses incurred.

(18) In addition to the above by-laws, the trustees shall adopt written policies on the following subjects, such policies shall be recorded in the minutes of the meeting at which they were adopted and shall be binding on the administrator and service company:

(a) Investment of surplus monies and claims reserves in accordance with Chapter 440, F.S., and Chapter 69O-190, F.A.C.

(b) Frequency and extent of loss control and safety engineering service to members.

(c) The size of the revolving claims fund.

(d) A schedule for payment and collection of premiums including a definition of delinquent premium.

(e) Cancellation procedures, including cancellation for non-payment of premium and cancellation for excessive losses.

(f) Delineation of authority granted to the administrator or fiscal agent.

(g) Delineation of authority granted to the service company.

(h) A penalty program for surcharging members with excessive losses.

(i) Procedures for handling disputes regarding premium paid by members.

(j) Dividend policies including underwriting criteria.

(19) The trustees shall review at least annually the following items for the purpose of determining whether these areas of concern are being adequately provided for and the findings of such review shall be recorded in the minutes of the meeting at which they were discussed:

(a) Service company performance.

(b) Loss control and safety engineering.

(c) Investment policies.

(d) Collection of bad debt.

(e) Cancellation procedures.

(f) Initial member review.

(g) Administrator performance.

(h) Dividend policies.

(20) All self-insurers shall file copies of the current by-laws or trust agreement and required written policies with the Office. Any changes in the by-laws, trust agreement or written policies shall be filed with the Office no later than ten (10) days after their taking effect. The Office reserves the right to order the self-insurers fund to rescind or revoke any by-law or policy if it is in violation of these rules or the Law.

(21) The board of trustees of a self-insurers fund shall meet from time to time as needed to conduct the business of the fund. However, the trustees shall meet at least four (4) times per fund year and written minutes of each meeting shall be kept. The minutes shall be signed and dated by the chairman or secretary of the board of trustees. Such minutes shall be open to inspection by the Office.
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69O-190.065 Distribution of Surplus Monies by Self-Insurers Funds.

(1) Any surplus monies for a fund year in excess of the amount necessary to fulfill all obligations under the Law for that fund year may be declared refundable to members by the trustees at any time. The amount of such declaration shall be a liability of the fund at the time of the declaration. Date of payment shall be as agreed by the trustees and the Division subject to this section.

(2) Distribution of dividends are subject to the following conditions:

(a) Dividends of surplus premium (i.e., underwriting profit) shall be payable only to employers who paid premium to the fund during the year the underwriting profit occurred.

(b) Dividends of surplus investment or miscellaneous income may be paid to any member who meets the criteria established by the fund pursuant to paragraph 69O-190.065(2)(c), F.A.C. Payment of any such dividend shall be subject to a plan filed with and approved in writing by the Division. Any such plan shall comply with Rule 69O-190.072, F.A.C.

(c) Eligibility for dividends pursuant to paragraphs (a) and (b), shall be based on criteria which meet the following conditions:

1. The criteria shall be objective and measurable such as an employer’s accident record, the amount of premium paid, or any other criteria which encourages workplace safety or cost containment.

2. The criteria shall only apply to fund membership; and,
3. The amount of dividend otherwise earned shall be prorated based upon the length of membership of the member in the fund.

(d) All dividends from policy years beginning on or after October 1, 1989, whether from premium, investment income or miscellaneous income, shall be payable to employers who were members of the fund at the end of the policy year in question but have since left the fund and are otherwise entitled to receive a dividend according to the criteria established by the trustees.

(e) No fund shall offer to provide a dividend or seek to enlist a new member based upon the promise of payment of a dividend. No fund may promise, or make any representation of, a specific amount of dividend for which a potential member may become eligible. A fund may disclose in its solicitation of new members, the formula which it intends to use to calculate a member’s future dividend pursuant to paragraph (2)(c).

(3) A request to the Division for authorization to disburse a declared refund shall be made in writing to the Office by the fund administrator or trustees. A request for permission to pay a dividend shall be in accordance with Section 440.57(5), F.S. Such request shall include a current financial statement and an actuarial report regarding the adequacy of the reserves for all fund years. Such request shall be delivered to the Division in such manner that a signed receipt is provided to the sender.

(4) Before approving any refund distribution request, the Division shall determine that such refund will not impair the financial solvency of the self-insurers fund. In any given fund year, the monies allocated to the loss fund shall not be used for any purpose other than paying claims and authorized expenses until such time as surplus monies are eligible to be refunded. The intent of these rules is to ensure that sufficient monies are retained so that total assets are greater than total liabilities in each fund year.

(5) In the event of a deficit or contingent liability in any fund year, such deficit shall be funded immediately, either from surplus from a fund year other than the current fund year or from trustee’ funds or by assessment of the membership, if ordered by the Division, or by such alternate method as the Division may approve. An alternate method shall not increase the liability of the fund. Alternate methods may include, but are not limited to, capital contributions by a sponsoring association, capital contributions from a trustee or member, sale of a fixed asset by the fund, or by disallowing or reducing an advance premium discount to members. The Division shall be notified prior to any transfer of surplus funds.

(6) When a dividend is disbursed, it shall be the responsibility of the fund to ensure that dividends are paid to employers eligible for a dividend including those who are no longer members of the fund. The fund shall give each member, upon joining the fund, written notice that dividends may be payable to a member after leaving the fund. Such notice shall also instruct the member to keep the fund informed of any changes in address after leaving the fund.

(7) When disbursing a dividend, the fund shall make a reasonable effort to locate all former members of the fund who are eligible for a dividend. Reasonable effort shall include:

(a) Mailing the dividend payment to the last known address of the member according to the records of the fund;
(b) For dividends in excess of $500, if the member is not located at the last known address, the fund shall make an attempt to locate the former member through the member’s insurance agent, association or through sources of information available to the general public.
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69O-190.066 Premium Billing and Collection.

(1) The trustees shall not allow a premium discount to any member for the period beginning on September 1, 1990 and ending on December 31, 1991. Beginning on January 1, 1992, if a self-insurer’s fund allows premium discounts to its members, the trustees shall allow a premium discount to each member as follows:
	First
	$5,000 of standard premium
	0%

	Next
	95,000 of standard premium
	10.9%

	Next
	400,000 of standard premium
	12.6%

	Over
	500,000 of standard premium
	14.4%


It is the intention of the Office that these discounts be identical to the rates approved by the Office of Insurance for voluntary stock premium discounts. The trustees may not authorize a discount in excess of that allowed by the fund’s excess insurer in determining the excess policies’ premium and retention.

(2) In no event shall a fund using a dividend to offset billed premium make any representation to a member or a potential member that this dividend constitutes an additional advance discount. Premium reported to the Office shall be normal premium.

(3) If in any given fund year, the self-insurers fund will have an unfunded contingent liability, then no advance discount to members shall be allowed that year until the liability is funded.

(4) In determining “net premiums” on which Administrative and Special Disability Assessments are computed pursuant to Sections 440.49(2)(h) and 440.51, F.S., self-insurers funds shall use amounts collected after both advance discounts and refunds. In no event shall the fund be allowed to deduct more than 15 percent from standard premium when calculating net premium.

(5) The trustees shall make all reasonable efforts to collect delinquent premiums. The trustees shall establish premium payment schedules which provide for premium payment dates, corresponding amounts due, and a basis for determining when unpaid premiums are to be considered delinquent. Copies of all payment schedules shall be filed with the Office within 30 days after implementation.

(6) The trustees at their discretion may establish any payment schedule that adequately provides for sufficient cash flow and that gives proper consideration for the potential adverse effects of delinquent premium on fund solvency. Payment schedules, other than preferred payment plans, shall require that a member’s annual pro-rata normal premium is payable in full upon presentation of the final annual billing. Such billings shall include credits for amounts already paid and may include credits for any dividend or administrative savings allowed. The Office reserves the right to order modification of any payment schedule contrary to these rules or which it determines will adversely affect the fund’s liquidity or solvency.

(7) The trustees may establish preferred payment plans for certain members which allow these members to pay a premium other than normal premium. Each member participating in a preferred payment plan shall enter into a contract or agreement which sets forth the terms and conditions of the plan. Such payment plans shall be subject to the following conditions:

(a) All proposed plans including the proposed contract or agreement shall be submitted to and approved by the Office prior to implementation. In approving or disapproving a plan, the Office shall determine if the plan complies with this rule. Additionally, all revisions to the approved plan, contract, or agreement shall be submitted to the Office and approved prior to implementation.

(b) The plan shall establish a minimum normal premium that a member must pay to qualify for participation in the plan.

(c) The fund shall conduct a reasonable financial review of any employer desiring to participate in the plan for the purpose of determining that the member is financially sound. A description of the financial review shall be part of the plan. Only financially sound employers may participate in these plans.

(d) The plan and contract or agreement shall require that each participant shall pay to the fund a portion of the total fixed expenses for the fund. At the beginning of each policy year in which the plan is offered, the fixed expenses associated with the fund’s operation shall be calculated.

1. The minimum fixed expense shall be based upon the portion of the fund’s estimated annual normal premium in excess of the aggregate retention or loss fund. The percentage of the estimated annual normal premium determined by the fixed expenses of the fund shall be applied to the estimated annual normal premium of each member in the plan to determine the minimum pro-rata fixed expenses to be paid to the fund by each participant.

2. The fixed expenses owed by each participant may be greater than the minimum but shall be fixed at policy inception and adjusted on final audit only to reflect changes in the member’s audited normal premium. Expenses which are allowable charges to the aggregate excess contract loss fund may be deducted from the member’s claims deposit.

3. Each fund shall adopt a fixed expense charge which it shall apply to all members of the preferred payment plan during a given fund year. The fund may elect to apply an expense charge which is greater than the actual expense factor of the fund but this charge shall be uniformly applied to all preferred payment plan members in a given year.

(e) If the plan allows the member to pay less than the earned normal premium upon final audit, then the plan shall require, at a minimum, that the member provide security to the fund for the difference between the premium actually paid and the member’s annual normal premium. After the end of the policy year, the security may be reduced to the amount of the member’s outstanding claims reserves. Such security may be surety bonds, cash security, letters of credit, or other methods approved by the Office. This security shall be adjusted annually to reflect current incurred loss, claims payments, and lump sum settlements. The fund shall establish a reserve for the amount of the outstanding claims reserves.

(f) The plan shall establish a minimum and maximum premium that each member shall be subject to for each policy period in the plan.

1. The minimum premium shall be greater than or equal to the sum of the fixed expenses established pursuant to paragraph 69O-190.066(8)(d), F.A.C., and the cost of all claims incurred net of excess recoveries.

2. The maximum premium shall not be less than 115% of the member’s standard premium. The maximum premium established by the fund shall be the most any member shall be required to pay the fund for coverage except for assessments made pursuant to the fund’s indemnity agreement.

3. The fund shall collect a deposit premium which shall be at least equal to the amount of the claims deposit plus a pro-rata portion of the expense charge. This deposit premium shall be paid prior to the beginning of the member’s participation in the plan in a given year.

(g) The plan shall require that the member forfeit any dividends paid by the fund for the period the member participated in the plan.

(h) The participation in the plan by a member shall be terminated by the fund if the member’s financial condition deteriorates to the point where its ability to meet future financial obligations is in doubt. The fund shall maintain a file for each participant, and such file shall be made available to Office personnel upon request. Each file shall contain, but shall not be limited to, financial statements or audited financial statements for each member’s three (3) most recent fiscal years.

(i) The plan shall provide that the member provide a cash deposit out of which the fund will pay the member’s claims. Such deposit shall be reviewed by the fund at least quarterly and increased or decreased to reflect the actual claims paid by the fund on behalf of the member.

1. Each member shall be billed monthly for any claims paid by the fund during the previous month. It is the intent of this rule that funds should use only the preferred payment plan claims deposits or collateral to pay preferred payment plan claims.

2. Cash claims deposits shall be treated as a liability for accounting purposes and payments made from cash deposits shall be accounted for separately by fund year.

3. A fund may elect to use a loss conversion factor or factors when billing members for reimbursement of the cash claims deposit. These factors will require that the members reimburse the fund for the actual amount of claims paid plus an additional fixed percentage of the amount paid. The loss conversion factors shall be a part of the plan and shall be fixed for any given policy year. If more than one factor is to be used by the fund, the plan shall explicitly state the criteria for applying a specific factor to an individual member.

4. The fund may limit the liability of a member to reimburse the fund for actual claims payments by capping the cost associated with a given claim at the fund’s specific excess retention. No other limit shall be used to cap the members’ liability to reimburse the fund on individual claims. If the contract period for a member’s participation in the preferred payment plan includes two or more specific retentions, then the contract shall be amended to reflect the actual specific retentions in effect during the preferred payment plan contract period. The loss limits specified in this paragraph shall not affect or amend the maximum premium required in paragraph (f).

(j) The plan shall provide that any claims reserves, less specific excess recoveries, outstanding when a member leaves the fund, shall be paid in full by the member or shall be guaranteed by security acceptable to the Office.

(k) The fund’s aggregate excess policy shall provide that the retention be determined by using the premium paid or if normal premium is used, then the fund shall establish a reserve funded from surplus in the amount of the difference between normal premium and premium paid.

(l) The fund shall limit the participation in the plan to insure that it has adequate liquidity. In no event shall the fund allow more than 25 percent of its premium in these plans. Such percentage shall be determined by calculating the participating members’ normal premium and expressing this amount as a percentage of the fund’s total normal premium.

(m) The fund shall report to the Office, as part of its Quarterly Status Reports or annual financial statement, the number of employers participating in the plan, their equivalent normal fund premium, the amount of premium paid in, the amount of claims paid, the amount of reserves outstanding and the amount of any delinquent premium. The Preferred Payment Plan Quarterly Status Reports shall be filed on OIR Form BSI-30.

(n) The fund shall pay its assessments on the basis of normal premium for any employers participating in the plan.

(o) The Office reserves the right to order the preferred payment plans terminated if it determines that the continuation of the plan would adversely affect the solvency of the fund or if the fund fails to comply with the provisions of this rule. All approvals for preferred payment plans shall be for a single fund year only. Plans or any amendments to previously filed plans shall be filed annually and be subject to approval of the Office in the same manner as and according to the same criteria used for approving new plans. If a fund wishes to continue a plan with no changes from the previous year, then the fund may advise the Office in writing and the fund need not make any additional filing for that year.

(p) Any claims remaining open two years after the end of the policy period in which they were incurred may be commuted into a lump sum payment by the employer at the request of the fund or at the request of the employer and with the concurrence of the fund.

(8) Funds may be allowed to offer retrospectively rated plans to their members. Funds may request permission to use plans filed by the National Council on Compensation Insurance (NCCI) with the Office or funds may develop their own plans.

(a) Funds shall obtain the approval of the Office prior to offering any retrospectively rated plans.

(b) Funds shall adopt explicit underwriting criteria which shall be submitted to the Office along with the actual plan. The fund shall also submit with the request an actuarial analysis of the impact of the plan on the solvency and liquidity of the fund.

(c) The Office may approve the use of a plan if the offering of a plan does not adversely affect fund solvency and liquidity. In approving a plan, the Office may limit the participation in the plan to a fixed percentage of fund premium when such limit is necessary to assure fund solvency and liquidity.

(d) Funds may submit their own retrospectively rated plans which have been developed by a qualified actuary. These plans shall address the same issues as are contained in the NCCI plans. Any plan which allows a minimum premium of less than standard premium shall have a maximum premium which is in excess of standard premium. The fund’s actuary shall attest that the plan is actuarially sound.

(e) All plans shall be reviewed annually by the fund’s actuary. The review shall include an analysis of the actuarial soundness of the plan and the effect of the plan on fund solvency and liquidity.

(f) Changes in a plan must be filed with and approved by the Office prior to implementation. All changes must be reviewed by the fund’s actuary and included in the actuary’s annual analysis of the plan and in its impact on the fund’s financial condition.

(g) The Office may withdraw the authorization of a fund to offer a retrospectively rated plan if the office determines that the continuation of the plan would adversely affect fund solvency and liquidity.
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69O-190.067 Member’s Qualifications and Responsibilities.

(1) All members of a self-insurers fund shall have common interest. Different businesses which are owned or controlled by the same interests shall be eligible for membership in a self-insurers fund provided one of them is eligible.

(2) Unless the context clearly indicates to the contrary, the requirements imposed by these rules shall apply to the self-insurer as defined by Section 440.02(7)(b)3., F.S. The duties, responsibilities and requirements of the members as defined by Section 440.02(7)(b)2., F.S., are as provided by the indemnity agreement as specified in Rule 69O-190.068, F.A.C.

(3) Self-insurers funds are authorized only to accept liability and extend coverage for injuries under Chapter 440, F.S. No fund shall accept as a member any employer who is known to have United States Longshoremen and Harbor Workers Act or Jones Act exposure for which the fund may be liable. Whenever a fund determines that a member has United States Longshoremen and Harbor Workers Act or Jones Act exposure for which the fund was or may be liable, then that member shall be issued a notice of termination by the fund unless such exposure was a one time occurrence and will not be repeated or unless the member secures acceptable insurance coverage for the continuing United States Longshoremen and Harbor Workers Act or Jones Act exposure.

(4) Self-insurers funds shall use form BSI-31 to assure itself that any person claiming exemption from Chapter 440, F.S., pursuant to Section 440.05, F.S., is entitled to such an exemption.
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69O-190.068 Indemnity Agreement.

(1) Each self-insurers fund member shall enter into an indemnity agreement jointly and severally binding the self-insurers fund and each member thereof to comply with the provisions of the Florida Workers’ Compensation Law and rules of the Office. Employers in the public sector who are legally unable to enter into a joint and several liability indemnity agreement with private employers shall be ineligible to participate in a self-insurers fund with members who are private employers. Self-insurers funds composed entirely of public employers may be authorized and must qualify in the same manner and be subject to the same regulations as all other self-insurers funds.

(2) The indemnity agreement required pursuant to paragraph 69O-190.056(3)(a), F.A.C., shall conform to the form of the indemnity agreement hereinafter set forth and shall contain all its provisions but may also contain other provisions not inconsistent with these rules or with the required provisions. “Administrator” or “Fiscal Agent” may be substituted as may be necessary to reflect the respective authority, responsibility and duties of these agents, consistent with these rules.

INDEMNITY AGREEMENT

THIS INDENTURE, made and entered into this ___ day of ___, A. D., 20___, by and between all the parties who are now or may hereafter become members of the ___ Self-Insurers Fund, acting by and through a Board of Trustees of their own selection.

WITNESSETH

WHEREAS, the undersigned persons, firms and corporations, hereinafter referred to as “Members,” have applied to the Office of Insurance Regulation, hereinafter referred to as the “Office,” for authority to pool our liabilities pursuant to the terms of the Florida Workers’ Compensation Law and specifically as provided by Section 624.4621, F.S., and

WHEREAS, the said members have organized and formed a fund pursuant to said section, which fund shall be known as ___ Self-Insurers Fund, herein referred to as the “Fund,” and

WHEREAS, the members of said Fund have designated ___ as its first Board of Trustees to direct the affairs of said Fund and to pass on the admissability of future members of the Fund until the members select succeeding Trustees for said Fund, and

WHEREAS, the said Trustees have designated ___ as Service Agent for said Fund, and

WHEREAS, the Office, upon petition of the group, has made its order approving said application, but upon the following conditions, to-wit:

I

The group shall, before being issued a certificate, post either a corporate surety bond or securities acceptable to the Office in the aggregate sum of ___ dollars ($) to secure performance of any awards which might be made against the Fund or any member thereof, and keep said bond or securities posted as long as may be required by the Office. The Trustees shall from time to time be entitled to receive all interest accruing on any negotiable securities posted, provided that the Fund is not in default in payment of compensation benefits or of any assessment levied by the Office in accordance with Sections 440.20(9), 440.49 and 440.51, F.S.

II

That the members of said Fund execute a covenant or agreement whereby in addition to the collateral just above mentioned, the Fund and its members will jointly and severally covenant to assume and discharge, by payment, any lawful awards entered by the Office against any member of the group, which awards shall have been sustained by the courts where an appeal by either party is taken.

III

That the members of the Fund execute a covenant or agreement whereby the Fund and each member thereof will jointly and severally covenant and agree to pay premiums and assessments, based upon appropriate classifications and rates, into a designated cash reserve fund out of which lawful and proper claims and awards are to be paid, and further, that the group will jointly and severally covenant and agree there will be no disbursements out of this fund by way of dividends or distribution of accumulated reserves to the respective members, except at the direction of the Trustees after application to and approval by the Office.

AND WHEREAS, the members of said fund, through their designated Trustees, have elected to comply with said conditions and become self-insurers, and to execute the other covenants required;

NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the mutual covenants, promises and obligations herein contained, which are given to and accepted by each member hereof to the other, the parties to this instrument covenant, stipulate and agree as follows:

1. The Fund hereby agrees either to file with the Office a corporate surety bond in the principal sum of ___ dollars ($ ) or to deposit ___ dollars ($ ) in acceptable securities with the Office to secure performance by the Fund of payment of all lawful awards made by the Office against any member or members of the group, predicated on a claim or claims by an employee or employees of any member of the Fund arising out of and in the course of such claimant’s employment, and which awards shall have been sustained by the courts where an appeal by either party is taken; and upon condition that said member through which such claim originated shall not have been suspended from, resigned from, or expelled from the Fund after thirty (30) days’ notice to the Office of such suspension, resignation, or expulsion, and which notice to the Office shall have been given thirty (30) days prior to the accident complained of.

2. The members of this Fund do jointly and severally covenant and agree that they will pay any such award as would otherwise be a claim against the aforesaid surety bond or securities as soon as the same shall become payable under the laws of the State of Florida; and the group agrees to pay to the Office for the administration of the law such assessments as may be ordered by said Office in accordance with Sections 440.20(9), 440.49 and 440.51, F.S.

3. The members intend this agreement as a mutual covenant of assumption and not as a partnership, but should any court of competent jurisdiction construe same to be a partnership, then it is the intention of the parties that such partnership be limited in scope to the uses for which this contract is executed and no other.

4. That, subject to the approval of the Office, the Trustees of the Fund shall set up, operate, and enforce its own administrative rules, regulations and by-laws as between the individual members of the Fund.

5. The members ratify and confirm appointment by the Trustees of ___ as Service Agent for the Fund and its members, individually and collectively. The Service Agent shall determine all sums due the Fund from the members, pay all approved items of expense as directed by the Trustees, and give a monthly account of all monies so handled. For handling the administrative and servicing functions of the Fund, the Service Agent shall receive a fee which shall be negotiated from time to time by the Trustees. This fee shall be in consideration of all services and expenses contracted for with the Fund, which services or expenses may include the collecting, disbursing, and accounting for monies collected, counseling with members as to safety hazards, claims handling and investigation, and providing for excess insurance coverage. The Service Agent’s books and records are to be open to inspection by the Office and by the Trustees or their agents at all reasonable times.

6. The Service Agent shall deposit to the account of the Trustees, at any bank or banks designated by the Trustees, all premiums as and when collected, and said monies shall be disbursed only as provided by (1) the rules, regulations and by-laws of the Trustees, (2) the Agreement between the Trustees and the Service Agent, and (3) the Rules of the Commission pertaining to self-insurers funds.

7. The Trustees are authorized and directed to take all reasonable precaution to protect the members from losses and shall provide for excess insurance coverage designed to protect said members against excess losses. The contracts for coverage shall be governed by the Rules of the Commission pertaining to self-insurers.

8. All members of the Fund hereby agree that the Trustees may admit as members of this Fund only acceptable and financially sound employers in the State of Florida who have common interest as defined in the Rules of the Commission pertaining to self-insurers, and that, subject to the approval of the Office, the Trustees shall be sole judge of whether or not any applying business shall be admitted to membership; and further, that a member may be suspended or expelled from the Fund after thirty (30) days’ notice has been given to him and the Office, and that no liability shall accrue to the Fund or its members for any accident to an employee of the suspended or expelled member occurring after thirty (30) days’ notice has been given to him and the Office as above provided.

9. The rules and regulations for the administering of the Fund and the admission and expulsion or suspension of members shall be promulgated by the Trustees. However, each member of the Fund agrees to abide by the following rules and regulations:

(a) The member agrees to follow the safety recommendations of the Trustees and the Service Agent in order to give his employees the maximum in safe and sanitary working conditions, and to follow the general recommendations of the Fund in this field to promote the general welfare of his employees.

(b) In the event of an accident or a reported claim, to make immediate provision for remedial care for his employees, and to give immediate notification of said accident to the Service Agent on the prescribed forms.

(c) The members shall make prompt payment of all premiums and assessments as required by the Trustees, said premiums to be determined by applying applicable experience modification to the standard rates for the exposure to risk, said standard rates to be as compiled by the National Council on Compensation Insurance and approved by the Office of Insurance Regulation. Further, said premium shall include loss and expense constants and minimum premiums, where applicable. Finally, said premium may be reduced by any discount allowed by the Trustees as long as such discount does not exceed the amount permitted by the Rules of the Commission pertaining to self-insurers.

(d) The member hereby appoints the Service Agent of this Fund as his agent and attorney-in-fact to act in his behalf and to execute all contracts and reports, waivers, agreements, excess insurance contracts, and service contracts; to make or arrange for payment of claims, medical expenses, and all other things required or necessary insofar as they affect his workers’ compensation and/or employer’s liability under Florida law and as covered by the terms of this Fund Agreement and the rules and regulations as now provided or as hereafter promulgated by the Trustees and the Office.

(e) The member agrees that in the event of the payment of any loss by the Fund under this contract, the Fund shall be subrogated to the extent of such payment to all the rights of the member against any person or other entity legally responsible for damages for said loss, and in such event the member hereby agrees to render all reasonable assistance, other than pecuniary, to effect recovery.

(f) The Fund is to defend in the name of and on behalf of the member any suits or other proceedings which may at any time be instituted against him on account of injuries or death within the purview of the Florida Workers’ Compensation Law or on the basis of employer’s liability, including suits or other proceedings alleging such injuries and demanding damages or compensation therefor, although such suits, other proceedings, allegations or demands are wholly groundless, false, or fraudulent, and to pay all costs taxed against this member in any legal proceeding defended by the company, all interest accruing after entry of judgment and all expenses incurred for investigation, negotiation or defense.

(g) Liability of the Fund to the employees of any employer is specifically limited to such obligations as are imposed by Florida law against the employer for workers’ compensation and/or employer’s liability.

(h) The Trustees of the Fund, the Service Agent, and any of their agents, servants, employees or attorneys shall be permitted at all reasonable times to inspect the work places, plants, works, machinery and appliances covered by this agreement, and shall be permitted at all reasonable times and within two years after the final termination of the membership to examine members’ books, vouchers, contracts, documents, and records of any and every kind which show or tend to show or verify the premium which is payable under the terms hereof.

(i) The coverage of the Fund does not apply to punitive or exemplary damages on account of such injuries to any employee or employer in violation of law.

(j) Coverage by the Fund under the terms of this agreement shall expire and be cancelled automatically for nonpayment of premium, and a member may be expelled and dropped from the Fund upon thirty (30) days written notice by the Trustees or the Service Agent of the Fund to the member stating when, no less than thirty (30) days thereafter, cancellation shall be effective.

(k) The Fund shall not be liable for any additional compensation imposed by Section 440.54, F.S.

10. The Trustees are authorized to set aside from the premiums collected a reasonable sum for the operating expenses or administrative expenses of the Fund. All remaining funds coming into their hands during any one fiscal year of the Fund shall be set aside and shall be used only for the following purposes:

(a) Fee for the Service Agent for said Fund as provided in paragraph 5., supra.

(b) Payments for medical, surgical, hospital and nursing expense, and payments of compensation to employees covered by this contract, including settlements, awards, judgments, legal fees, and costs in all contest cases.

(c) Payment of Administrative, Special Disability Fund, and other assessments as required by the Office.

(d) Payment of cost of all bonds and auditing expenses required of the Fund or its agents or employees by the Office.

(e) Distribution to members in such manner as the Trustees shall deem to be equitable of any excess monies remaining after payment of claims and claims expenses and after provision has been made for open claims and outstanding reserves; provided, however, that no such distributions shall be made prior to the approval of the Office, and after complying with the applicable law and rules; provided, further, that undistributed excess funds from previous Fund Years may be distributed at any time if not required for reserves and if approved for distribution by the Office.

11. The Fund shall operate on a fiscal year from 12:01 a.m. ___ first to midnight of the last day in ___ of the succeeding year. Application for continuing membership, when approved in writing by the Trustees or their designee, shall constitute a continuing contract for each succeeding fiscal period unless cancelled by the Office or the fund, or unless the member shall have resigned or withdrawn from said Fund by written notice.

12. The members jointly and severally covenant and agree that there will be no disbursement out of this Fund by way of dividends or distribution of accumulated reserve to members until after provision has been made for all obligations under the Workers’ Compensation Law against said Fund and except at the discretion of the Trustees, upon application to and approval by the Division.

13. Any member who formally applies for membership in this Fund and is accepted by the Trustees shall thereupon become a party to this agreement and be bound by all of the terms and conditions hereof, and said approved application shall constitute a counterpart of this agreement.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the members of ___ Self-Insurers Fund have caused these presents to be signed by their duly authorized Chairman of the Board of Trustees and have had this agreement attested by its duly authorized secretary.

___ Self-Insurers Fund

By ________________________________

CHAIRMAN

ATTEST:

___________________________________

Secretary of Board of Trustees

Signed, sealed and delivered in the presence of:

____________________________________

____________________________________

We, the undersigned ___ do hereunto set our hands and seals to certify our acceptance of our duties as Service Agent for ___ Self-Insurers Fund this ___ day of ___ A.D., 20___.   

	
	By ___________________ 

	
	Attest _________________

	
	Its Secretary


Signed, sealed and delivered in the presence of:

________________________________________

________________________________________

Rulemaking Authority 440.591, 440.38(l)(b)1., 624.4621 FS. Law Implemented 624.4621 FS. History–New 10-1-82, Formerly 38F-5.68, Amended 3-11-90, Formerly 38F-5.068, 4-190.068.

69O-190.069 Self-Insurers Fund Member Experience Records.

(1) Employers participating in a self-insurers fund under the provisions of Section 624.4621, F.S., shall be subject to the Experience Rating Plan and the payroll classification and premium determination system established by the National Council on Compensation Insurance (NCCI).

(2) The Office shall determine an experience modification for each qualified member of a self-insurers fund annually, or as otherwise provided, on the same basis as if the employer were insured under the provisions of Section 440.38(1)(a), F.S., and such modification is to be used to determine the employer’s standard premium as provided by these rules and the indemnity agreement. Funds shall submit only those members who qualify for experience rating in accordance with the NCCI Experience Rating Plan Manual.

(3) For any fund member who’s experience must be combined with the experience modification factor of an insured group because of ownership requirements under the NCCI Experience Rating Plan, the fund must provide its experience to NCCI and have a combined experience modification factor calculated by NCCI. Any expenses of this transaction shall be the responsibility of the fund.

(4) Each self-insurers fund administrator and each self-insurers fund service company, if applicable, may be furnished a copy of the experience rating calculations.

(5) Should a member cease to participate in a self-insurers fund and purchase standard insurance coverage, the Experience Rating Plan provides that self-insured experience may be used in the employer’s future experience rating calculation.

(6) Loss experience tabulations will be furnished upon request of the employer and a fee for such services may be assessed to defray preparing such tabulations, such cost to be actual reimbursement to the Office.

Rulemaking Authority 440.38(2)(b), 624.4621 FS. Law Implemented 440.49(7)(h)2., 440.51, 624.4621 FS. History–New 10-1-82, Formerly 38F-5.69, Amended 12-19-93, Formerly 38F-5.069, 4-190.069.

69O-190.071 Authorized Investments for Self-Insurers Funds.

(1) The trustees of a fund are authorized to invest the assets of the fund only in the manner prescribed by these rules.

(2) Monies allocated to claims reserves net of excess recoveries for all policy years prior to the current year, the current year loss fund, all security deposits, and encumbered miscellaneous income shall be invested only in the following manner:

(a) Bankers acceptances from Prime Money Center Banks located within the United States and purchased through authorized financial institutions as defined in this rule.

(b) Savings accounts, checking accounts, money market accounts, certificates of deposit and fully collateralized repurchase agreements in financial institutions authorized pursuant to this rule.

(c) U.S. Treasury notes, bonds, and bills.

(d) Any security issued by the U.S. government or government agency and backed by the full faith and credit of the U.S. government.

(e) Any security which is a general obligation of the U.S. government or U.S. government agency.

(f) Securities issued by the State of Florida, or any agency or political subdivision which are backed by the full faith and credit of the State of Florida.

(g) Mutual funds which invest 100% in U.S. government or U.S. governments agency securities and whose published management policy limits the risk to principal amount invested. Funds must maintain current prospectuses on all mutual funds in which they invest.

(h) Annuities issued by insurers licensed by the State of Florida and whose policies are subject to the protection of the Florida Life and Health Insurance Guaranty Association. Investments in annuities are subject to the following limitations:

1. At least 30 days prior to the fund purchasing its first annuity, and annually thereafter, a fund shall submit an actuarial review by a qualified actuary examining the impact on the fund’s present and future financial condition of purchasing annuities and foregoing the earning of investment income on the amounts invested in the annuities. The actuarial review shall take into account all aggregate reserve requirements and shall estimate the percent of the fund’s reserves which may safely be invested in annuities. This percentage shall be the maximum amount allowable for investment in annuities subject to subsequent annual reviews by the fund’s actuary. For purposes of this paragraph only, the actuary may be a member of the Society of Actuaries, American Academy of Actuaries or Casualty Actuarial Society.

2. Annuities shall be single premium annuities and shall be purchased only for the purpose of providing a payment stream for a given claim. Claims eligible for annuity funding shall be those claims with specific periodic benefit payments and with payments expected to continue for at least 61 months.

3. All annuities purchased shall have the fund as beneficiary. The fund may instruct the insurer to pay benefits directly to the claimant. The policy shall provide that the sum of the periodic benefit payments paid plus the cash value of the policy shall be greater than or equal to the amount of premium paid.

4. All annuities shall be tied to the claimant’s life span.

5. If the cash value of the annuity exceeds $100,000 or the estimated benefits payable under the terms of the annuity, including cash value, exceeds $300,000, then the annuity shall be purchased only from a licensed insurer with a rating from the most recent edition of the A. M. BEST INSURANCE REPORTS, LIFE-HEALTH, of at least “A.” The annuity policy shall also be subject to the protection of the Florida Life and Health Insurance Guaranty Association.

6. The rules contained in paragraph (f) relating to the purchase of annuities shall not apply to annuities purchased for a claim settlement pursuant to an order of a Deputy Commissioner.

(i) Land and existing buildings used or acquired for use as its principal home office and for use by its service company, if any, when conducting business involving the fund. Prior to investing in land and buildings, the fund shall submit to the Office the following items:

1. An appraisal of the building and land showing that the market value of the building and land is greater than or equal to the principal amount of the investment. The appraisal shall be prepared in accordance with the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice. The Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice of the Society of Real Estate Appraisers (effective July 1, 1987) are hereby adopted by reference and made a part of this rule by reference.

2. An analysis by the fund’s actuary on the impact of the investment on the liquidity of the fund for claims payment purposes.

3. A financial analysis using generally accepted accounting principles showing that the proposed investment will decrease the expense overhead of the fund compared to acquiring office space through renting commercial property.

4. A certified resolution of the board of trustees stating that the investment is intended solely for reducing the overhead expense of the fund and that the investment is not for purposes of speculation or resale.

(j) If the building or land purchased requires modification or renovation in order to make it suitable for the fund’s use, then the total cost of purchase of the building and land plus the cost of renovation or modification shall not exceed the 5 percent limit imposed by paragraph (n).

(k) If, instead of buying an existing building, a fund wishes to purchase land and construct a building on the land, then the following conditions shall be met in addition to those imposed by paragraph (i):

1. Land acquired for use in the construction of a building may be held for no longer than 18 months before construction shall begin. If construction is not begun within 18 months, then the fund may request a one time extension period to begin construction. An extension shall be granted upon submission of evidence that the fund has made a reasonable effort to begin construction within the time prescribed and that construction will begin before the end of the extension. If no extension is granted or if construction does not begin by the end of the extension then the land shall be sold.

2. All contracts awarded to the prime contractor shall contain a maximum fixed cost. The fund shall secure a performance bond in the amount of the contract from the prime contractor.

3. The total cost of acquiring the land, improving the land and construction of the building shall not exceed the 5 percent limit imposed by paragraph (n).

(l) The fund shall be the sole owner or mortgagee of the land and building, and no sale of real property for a price less than the original cost of the land and building shall take place without the written consent of the Office. The Office shall approve the sale unless the sale impairs the ability of the fund to meet its financial obligations.

(m) Investment in land or building pursuant to paragraphs (i) and (k), shall be subject to the approval of the Office. In approving this investment, the Office shall consider the impact of the investment on fund liquidity and solvency, the percent of net claims reserves invested and the amount of fund overhead expenses reduced by the investment. All books and records of the fund relating to acquiring land and acquiring or constructing a building shall be open to inspection by the Office.

(n) In no event shall the amount invested in land or building exceed 5 percent of the fund’s claims reserves, net of excess recoveries.

1. If the cost of purchasing land, purchasing or constructing a building, renovating a building or improving the land exceeds the 5 percent limit imposed by paragraph (n), then the fund shall allocate all its unencumbered surplus until an amount equal to the portion of the cost in excess of 5 percent is transferred to claims reserves.

2. If the Office subsequently determines that the investment endangers fund solvency or liquidity, or if the original cost of purchasing land, purchasing or constructing a building, renovating a building or improving the land ever exceeds 10 percent of loss reserves as defined by subsection 69O-190.059(3), F.A.C., the fund shall sell the land or building, obtain a mortgage on the property or allocate unappropriated surplus in order to provide sufficient liquidity to meet its obligations.

3. The fund shall allocate an amount each year to claims reserves equal to the amount of depreciation taken on the land and building.

(3) Investments pursuant to subsection (2) paragraphs (a) through (f), shall have maturity dates of not more than 10 years from the date of purchase. Furthermore, all investments shall be made in such a manner that dates of maturity of investments shall coincide with the claim payment needs of the fund. The Commission shall adopt as a rule a schedule which may be amended from time to time and which is based on the analysis of the payment patterns of all active self-insurers funds. Such schedule shall be used by all funds to determine the maturity dates for investments so that the claim payment needs of each fund are satisfied. If a fund submits to the Office an analysis by a qualified actuary which demonstrates the fund’s payment pattern is substantially different from the schedule published by the Office, the Office shall authorize the fund to purchase its investments based on the payment pattern of the fund rather than on the published schedule.

(4) No fund shall invest so that more than 10 percent of the fund’s assets are invested in a single financial institution unless such investment is fully insured by an agency of the United States government or satisfactorily collateralized pursuant to the conditions contained in subsection (7).

(5) All monies, other than those specified in subsection (2), held by a fund shall be invested in any manner authorized in subsection (2) and for any period of maturity.

(6) Investments pursuant to subsection (4) may be purchased with maturity dates subject to the discretion of the trustees. All such investments shall be purchased through financial institutions within the State of Florida.

(7) The trustees, upon approval by the Office, are authorized to enter into repurchase agreements subject to the following conditions:

(a) The agreement is with a financial institution within the State of Florida.

(b) The fund secures collateral for the agreement in the form of specific securities pledged to the fund whose market value is no less than the amount of the agreement.

(c) All securities pledged as collateral shall be acceptable pursuant to the restrictions imposed by subsections (2), (3) and (4). Upon receipt of proof of compliance with these conditions the Office shall approve the repurchase agreements.

(8) Authorized securities may be purchased through authorized financial institutions. For the purposes of this section, authorized financial institutions shall mean:

(a) Banks, savings and loan associations, and credit unions operating within the State of Florida and licensed by the State of Florida, the U.S. government or authorized under the Reciprocal Regional Banking Act of 1984 and whose accounts are insured by an agency of the U.S. government; and,

(b) Investment brokerage firms licensed by the Securities and Exchange Commission and insured by an agency of the U.S. government and operating within the State of Florida.

(9) The Office shall prohibit a fund from investing in, or order the liquidation of, an otherwise authorized investment upon a finding, based on reasonable cause, that a specific investment has become unsafe or that a specific financial institution is or may become insolvent.

Rulemaking Authority 624.4621 FS. Law Implemented 624.4621 FS. History–New 12-25-84, Amended 12-17-85, Formerly 38F-5.71, Amended 12-3-87, 7-20-88, 12-19-93, Formerly 38F-5.071, 4-190.071.

69O-190.072 Miscellaneous Income of a Self-Insurers Fund.

(1) Miscellaneous income is all income received by a fund other than premium paid by members.

(2) If the Office determines that a fund shall allocate miscellaneous income to fund a deficit or contingent liability, then the amount allocated shall be part of the fund’s security deposit and shall be encumbered for use only as specified by the Division.

(3) All unencumbered miscellaneous income may be disbursed at the discretion of the trustees in any manner not contrary to the rules or to the purpose for which the fund was established.

(4) Investment income earned after the end of the last policy year shall be disbursed only for essential fund operating expenses and dividends pursuant to subsection 69O-190.065(6), F.A.C. These expenses shall include payment of claims and claims expenses, service fees, administrative overhead, marketing costs, promotional costs, commissions, and other expenses related to the direct operating costs of the fund. Essential fund operating expenses shall not include refunds, dividends, bonuses, or other similar expenses.

Rulemaking Authority 624.4621 FS. Law Implemented 624.4621 FS. History–New 12-25-84, Formerly 38F-5.72, Amended 12-19-93, Formerly 38F-5.072, 4-190.072.

69O-190.073 Premium Audit.

(1) All self-insurers funds shall determine the normal premium due from each member in each policy year based on actual audited payroll. Audits shall consist of physical, onsite audits or mail self-audits. The requirements set forth in this rule shall apply to the fund and its present or former members. Funds shall be responsible for the compliance with this rule of contracted audit personnel or firms.

(2) Physical, onsite audits shall be required for all members who meet one of the following conditions:

(a) New members (new businesses or members who had coverage with another fund or carrier when they joined the current fund) who are eligible for experience rating at policy inception.

(b) New members in the construction industry. Any employer with classification codes subject to the Florida Contractors Classification Premium Adjustment program shall be deemed to be in the construction industry.

(c) All renewal members (members who were in the same fund for the new and prior policy period) who are eligible for experience rating at policy renewal.

(d) Any member may be audited at the discretion of the fund.

(3) Mail self-audits will be allowed for all new and renewal accounts not required to have a physical, onsite audit. However, any member shall have the right to request a physical, onsite audit when such a request is made on reasonable grounds.

(4) Each member shall be notified in writing by the fund of the audit requirements and penalties set forth in these rules. Such notice in plain language shall be mailed to the member at least 45 days prior to the end of each policy year.

(5) Each member shall be notified by the fund, either in person, by telephone or in writing prior to date that the physical audit is to be made.

(6) The following procedures shall govern the scheduling of physical, onsite audits:

(a) The fund shall make at least two separate good faith attempts to schedule a physical, onsite audit at a date and time mutually agreeable to the member and the fund.

(b) The fund shall keep a written record of the time and date of each attempt.

(c) After two attempts, if the fund is unable to establish, with the member, a mutually agreeable date for an audit, then the fund shall give the member notice by certified mail of the date of the fund’s choice on which an audit is to be performed. The fund may, at this time, issue a notice of termination to the member. This procedure is also applicable if the member cancels, with sufficient notice, two different appointments for a mutually agreed upon audit.

(d) Such notice shall include, in plain language, the statutory penalties for the member’s failure to give the fund access to the member’s records and for the member’s failure to allow the fund to complete its audit.

(7) All funds shall complete audits (both physical or mail) on 90% of its premium within 5 months after the end of the policy year.

(8) If a new member meets one or more of the following criteria then a preliminary, onsite audit should be performed within 6 months of the beginning of the policy year:

(a) Payroll contained on the UCT-6 forms or the monthly application updates is inconsistent with the member’s estimated annual premium.

(b) Information contained on the monthly application updates (OIR Form BSI-3A) is inconsistent with the member’s estimated annual premium.

(c) Construction risks with estimated annual premium in excess of $10,000.

(d) Any trucking or employee leasing business.

(e) Any business with over $50,000 in estimated annual premium.

(9) A physical onsite audit shall be performed on all members who terminate during their first year of membership. Such audit shall be scheduled within 30 days after the termination date and completed within 60 days after the termination date. Procedures applicable to year ending physical audits shall also apply to audits of terminated members.

(10) The following procedures and standards shall apply to all physical, onsite audits performed by the fund:

(a) The audit shall include a review of the member’s records and such review shall be sufficient to determine the actual premium owed to the fund and shall include an inspection of the member’s premises sufficient to determine the correctness of classification assignments, if such inspection has not previously been performed.

(b) If all of a member’s records are not maintained at one location, then an audit shall be performed at each location containing records.

(c) If a member’s estimated annual premium is in excess of $100,000, then an inspection of the member’s premises at all locations shall be part of the audit. Locations which were inspected during the expiring policy period by the fund’s safety personnel or which were the subject of a classification inspection during the same period need not be visited again during the audit.

(11) The following records are to be audited onsite, as applicable to the individual member:

(a) Payroll records;
(b) Ledgers or journals;
(c) UCT-6 reports;
(d) Checking accounts;
(e) Certificates of insurance for subcontractors;
(f) Form 1099’s;
(g) Claims history; and,
(h) Any other pertinent records.

(12) All audit reports, both physical and mail, shall include a summary of the correct audited payroll by classification, payrolls and classifications previously reported by the member, the calculation of the difference in payroll and a determination of the under or over payment of premium. The fund shall retain the audit report for at least 2 years and the audit workpapers for at least one year.

(13) When a fund schedules a mutually agreed upon audit, the member shall provide the name and title of the person who will represent the member at the time of the audit. If the agreed upon audit is more than 7 working days from the date the appointment was made, the fund shall confirm the appointment in writing and include the name of person designated to represent the member at the audit. The confirmation should include a statement that the member is to notify the fund by telephone immediately if the appointment cannot be kept.

(14) The fund shall make at least two good faith attempts to obtain the return of a mail audit before any penalties may be applied.

(15) If the fund attempts to complete a mutually agreed upon audit and cannot complete the audit because the member failed to give the fund access to the necessary records, the fund shall select a new date and time at least 2 weeks in advance. The fund shall send a notice to the member by certified mail advising the member of the audit and of the penalties for failure to allow the fund to complete the scheduled audit. Denial of access of records by the member’s agent or representative shall be considered the same as a denial by the member.

(16) If a member disputes the findings of a physical audit or the fund’s premium determination based on a mail audit, the following procedures shall apply:

(a) The member shall have 30 days from the date the audit results were mailed to file a written response to the fund. The response shall contain the specific facts in dispute as well as any documents which are pertinent to the dispute.

(b) Upon receipt of a timely notice of the dispute, the fund shall investigate the matter and render a written decision. A written decision shall be rendered on at least 75% of disputed audits within 30 days after the response was mailed by the member.

(c) If the fund does not agree with the member’s position, the fund may schedule another audit in the same manner as the original audit.

(d) Any reaudit scheduled shall be used to determine the member’s premium and the fund is not obligated to perform any further audit unless there is substantial evidence that both the original audit and the reaudit were incorrectly performed.

(e) The dispute shall be resolved in accordance with the dispute resolution procedure adopted by the fund pursuant to Rule 69O-190.064, F.A.C.

(f) Failure of the member or the fund to comply with the timeframes contained in paragraphs (a) and (b), without reasonable cause shall result in the matter being resolved in favor of the other party.

(17) Any overpayment of premium shall be refunded to the member within 60 days after the completion of any undisputed audit. Refunds of overpayment of premium shall be refunded within 30 days after the resolution of any dispute. The fund shall have the right to apply any overpayment of premium to any unpaid premium.

(18) A member may be fined $500 by a fund for failure to allow access to essential records during the course of a physical audit subject to the following conditions:

(a) The member has failed to allow the completion of a prior physical audit, when such audit was scheduled on a date and time mutually agreeable to the fund and the member; or

(b) The member has canceled two previous appointments for a physical audit; and,
(c) The fund has notified the member by certified mail of the date and time of the next scheduled audit and such notice shall include the penalties for failure to complete the next audit; and,
(d) The fund incurred time and travel expenses in attempting to complete the next audit.

(19) If the fund cannot complete an audit because the employer failed to maintain essential records then the member shall be subject to a $500 fine in the same manner and under the same conditions as if the member denied the fund access to his records.

(20) The $500 fine imposed by the fund shall become a part of the premium owed the fund and shall be collected in the same manner and at the same time as other premium. The $500 fine may be deducted from any premium overpayment owed to the member.

(21) If the failure to complete a physical audit or to return a mail audit results in the fund’s inability to determine an accurate final premium, the fund may arbitrarily determine payroll and charge up to a maximum of three times the most recent estimated annual premium in accordance with Section 440.381(8), F.S. 

(22) If the member intentionally understates payroll or misrepresents employee duties on the Application for membership or on the monthly updates and this results in an underpayment of premium, the member shall pay 12 percent simple interest to the fund on the amount of underpaid premium. The fund shall not be eligible to collect interest on the underpayment if the understatement of payroll or misrepresentation of employee duties could have been determined from a review of the monthly updates or UCT-6 forms.

(23) If the fund determines that a member has deliberately filed an Application for Membership or monthly updates containing false, misleading or incomplete information for the purpose of avoiding or reducing the amount of premium owed, then the fund shall notify the office and the Bureau of Worker’ Compensation Insurance Fraud of the name of the member as well as all supporting documents.

Rulemaking Authority 440.591, 440.51(6)(b), 440.381(3) FS. Law Implemented 440.51(6)(b), 440.381 FS. History–New 6-12-91, Amended 12-19-93, Formerly 38F-5.073, 4-190.073.

69O-190.074 Forms, Manuals and Instructions Adopted.

(1) OIR forms adopted. The OIR forms set forth in paragraphs (a) through (aa) of this subsection, as well as the accompanying instructions to the forms, are hereby incorporated into rule Chapter 69O-190, F.A.C., by reference. Copies of the forms are available from the Bureau of P & L Insurer Solvency, Office of Insurance Regulation, Tallahassee, Florida 32399-0300.

(a) OIR Form BSI-1, Application for Self-Insurance.

(b) OIR Form BSI-2, Employer Application for Group Coverage.

(c) OIR Form BSI-3, Membership Application.

(d) OIR Form BSI-3A, Self-Insurers Fund Member Application Monthly Change Sheet.

(e) OIR Form BSI-4, Revised Self-Insurers Surety Bond (Guaranty Fund Member).

(f) OIR Form BSI-4A, Self-Insurers Surety Bond (Guaranty Fund Non-Member).

(g) OIR Form BSI-4B, Self-Insurers Surety Bond.

(h) OIR Form BSI-5, Payroll Report, and the accompanying instructions.

(i) OIR Form BSI-6, Self-Insurance Letter of Credit.

(j) OIR Form BSI-11, Indemnity Agreement.

(k) OIR Form BSI-12, Drug-Free Workplace Program.

(l) OIR Form BSI-17, Unit Statistical Report, and the accompanying instructions.

(m) OIR Form BSI-19, Certification of Servicing for Self-Insurance.

(n) OIR Form BSI-20, Report of Workers’ Compensation Liabilities.

(o) OIR Form BSI-21, Breakdown of Policy Year Expenses.

(p) OIR Form BSI-22, Service Company Application.

(q) OIR Form BSI-23, Service Company Annual Report Form.

(r) OIR Form BSI-24, Quarterly Status Report.

(s) OIR Form BSI-24A, Preferred Payment Plan Quarterly Report.

(t) OIR Form BSI-26, Checklist for the Submission of Loss Reserve Reports.

(u) OIR Form BSI-27, Biographical Statement.

(v) OIR Form BSI-28, Quarterly Financial Statement.

(w) OIR Form BSI-29, Annual Financial Statement.

(x) OIR Form BSI-30, Report on Preferred Payment Plan.

(y) OIR Form BSI-31, Audit Procedures for Contractor/Independent Contractor Relationship.

(z) OIR Form BCM 201, Notice of Termination.

(aa) OIR Form BSI 206, Certificate of Self-Insurance, and the accompanying instructions.

(2) NAIC forms, instructions and manuals adopted. The NAIC forms, instructions and manual set forth in subparagraphs (a) through (e) of this subsection are hereby incorporated into rule Chapter 69O-190, F.A.C., by reference. Copies of the forms are available from the National Association of Insurance Commissioners, 120 West 12th Street, Suite 1100, Kansas City, Missouri 64105, and are available for inspection during regular business hours at the Office at its headquarters in Tallahassee, Florida.

(a) The 1992 National Association of Insurance Commissioners Quarterly Statement, Fire and Casualty Companies Association Edition.

(b) The Jurat Page; Statutory Balance Sheet; Underwriting and Investment Exhibit – Income Statement; Cash Flow; Underwriting and Investment Exhibit Part 1, Part 1A, Part 2, Part 2A, Part 3, Part 3A and Part 4; Exhibit 1 – Analysis of Assets; Exhibit 2 – Analysis of Non-Admitted Assets; Notes to Financial Statements; Five Year Historical Data (NOTE: funds shall complete this form on a going forward basis); Schedule of Special Deposits; Schedule A Part 1; Schedule B; Schedule BA; Schedule C; Schedule D Part 1, Part 1A, Part 3, Part 4 and Part 5 (NOTE: only 4th quarter transactions need to be reported); Schedule DA Part 1; Schedule F – Part 1A (NOTE: any amounts in dispute must be disclosed), Schedule M; Schedule N; Schedule P, Part 1 Summary, Part 2 Summary, Part 3 Summary, Part 5 Summary, Interrogatories; Schedule X; Schedule Y of the 1992 National Association of Insurance Commissioners Annual Statement, Fire and Casualty Companies Association Edition.

(c) The NAIC’s Annual Statement Instructions, Property and Casualty, 1993 edition.

(d) The NAIC’s Accounting Practices and Procedures Manual for Property and Casualty Insurance Companies, 1993 edition.

(e) The NAIC’s Financial Condition Examiner’s Handbook, 1993 edition.

Rulemaking Authority 440.5705, 440.591, 624.4621 FS. Law Implemented 440.381, 440.5705, 624.316, 624.424, 614.4621 FS. History–New 12-19-93, Formerly 38F-5.074, 4-190.074.
